Public Document Pack

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01235 422523
E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 3 February 2017
Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2017 AT 6.00 PM
FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, CROWMARSH
GIFFORD, OX10 8BA
Members of the Committee:
Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland
Margaret Davies
Anthony Dearlove
Jeannette Matelot

Toby Newman (ViceChairman)
David Nimmo-Smith
Richard Pullen
David Turner

Margaret Turner
Ian White

Stephen Harrod
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Imran Lokhon
Sue Lawson

Substitutes
Charles Bailey
Stefan Gawrysiak
Paul Harrison

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this
agenda. Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.
MARGARET REED
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

1

1

Apologies

2

Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, and other
declarations, in respect of items on the agenda for this meeting.
3

Urgent items

4

Applications deferred or withdrawn

5

Proposals for site visits
Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional
information
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application
number.
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications
Site Address

Proposal

Application No.

Page

6

Land to the rear
of Cleeve
Cottages,
Icknield Road,
Goring, RG8
0DJ

New access road and erection of 10
new dwellings.

P16/S3001/O

5 - 22

7

White Lodge,
Normanstead,
Henley-onThames, RG9
1XR

Variation of condition 10 of planning
permission P15/S1166/FUL, to revise
the landscaping proposal.

P16/S2623/FUL

23 - 40

8

The Strip,
Shepherd's

Construction of a detached dwelling.

P16/S3672/FUL

41 - 54
2

Green, RG9
4QW
9

The Poultry
Building,
Parsonage
Farm, The
Green, Marsh
Baldon, OX44
9LH

Demolition of the redundant 'B Use
Class' Poultry Building and the
erection of one 1.5 storey residential
dwelling with associated access and
garden amenity.

P16/S4196/FUL

55 - 74

10

56 Roding Way,
Didcot, OX11
7RQ

Proposed ground and first floor side
extension.

P16/S4108/HH

75 - 82

11

Dove House
Farm,
Cuddesdon,
OX44 9HG

Conversion of traditional buildings into P16/S3997/FUL
and
office accommodation and three
P16/S3998/LB
residential conversions, and five new
build residential units.

83 - 104

Variation of conditions 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8,
9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 of P10W0093
to allow construction of the site
access before agreement of precommencement conditions. And the
removal of condition 19.
Variation of conditions 4, 5, 6 of
P10W0094/LB to allow construction of
the site access before agreement of
pre commencement conditions.

3

4

Agenda Item 6
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
GRID REFERENCE
OFFICER

P16/S3001/O
OUTLINE
12.9.2016
GORING
Kevin Bulmer
Elegant Homes Goring Ltd
Land to the rear of Cleeve Cottages, Icknield Road,
Goring
New access road and erection of 10 new dwellings.
(As amended and amplified by information received
7, 26 & 31 October 2016 to address tree and
ecology concerns and submission of landscape
visual impact assessment and as further clarified by
revised arboricultural impact assessment, services
plan and wildlife area plan accompanying agent's
email dated 19 December 2016. As further clarified
by drawing no 204A received 19 January 2017
showing right of way on site).
None
460794/181571
Sharon Crawford

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application was deferred from the meeting on 1 February 2017 to correct two errors
in the previous report. The application has been referred to the Planning Committee
because the recommendation to grant planning permission conflicts with the views of
the Goring Parish Council.

1.2

The site is some 0.63 hectares in size and occupies a backland location behind
properties on Icknield and Elvendon Road on the north eastern edge of Goring village.
The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty washes over the whole of Goring
and the surrounding countryside. There are a number of significant trees surrounding
the site, many of which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders.

1.3

The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The application seeks outline planning permission for 10 no three bedroom dwellings
with an open area for wildlife. The details to be considered at this stage are access and
layout. Access is to be provided onto Icknield Road between 1 Cleeve Cottages and
the Fire Station. All other detailed matters are reserved. These include landscaping,
appearance, scale and on-site parking. These reserved matters will be subject of a
further detailed application should outline permission be granted.

2.2

The application submission includes the following documents;
 Planning and Access Statement
 Transport Statement
 Noise Assessment
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment
 Ecological Report
 Layout plan (including Right of Way across site)

Page 5

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

Additional information has also been submitted in respect of ecology, forestry, a
Landscape Visual Impact Assessment and the inclusion of a Right of Way across site
on the layout plan.
2.3

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website but are summarised below.

3.1

Goring Parish
Council

Refuse. The site is in a fairly sensitive location between Icknield Road
and Elvendon Road both roads having a sylvan feel within the AONB
in what is currently a fairly rural area of the village likely to be
inhabited by various ecological specimens including wildlife such as
deer, rabbits, badgers, foxes as well as those identified in the reptile
survey slow worms and grass snakes (both being protected species).
Cllrs were unhappy with the lack of detail supplied with the application
in relation to the exact type of houses proposed (as the application is
for “Outline” planning permission) but also agreed in their view the
proposal of 10 new dwellings could potentially be an overdevelopment
of the site given its location.
Contrary to policy CSR1 which states “the local character and
distinctiveness should be protected” as well as policy CSEN1 of the
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy which states “the district’s distinct
landscape character and key features will be protected against
inappropriate development and where possible enhanced. High
priority will be given to conservation and enhancement of the Chilterns
and North Wessex Downs and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
and that planning decisions will have regard for their setting”. It was
noted that again Goring is at present in the process of trying to
formulate its own Neighbourhood Plan to identify its preferred sites for
new housing by a democratic process and this undertaking
has not yet been finalized” Cllrs were particularly unhappy with the
proposal being for “outline” development and the lack of detail with
regard to the proposed housing therefore supplied with the application.

OCC
(highways)

No objection subject to conditions.

OCC
(Archaeology)

No objection subject to conditions.

Countryside
Officer

The additional information has addressed ecology concerns. No
objection subject to conditions.

Forestry
Officer

The additional information has addressed forestry concerns. No
objection subject to conditions.

Community
Infrastructure
Officer

Standing advice on S106 and CIL contributions.

Waste
Management
Officer

Standing advice on waste and bins.

Page 6

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

Neighbours
Objections
(14)

4.0
4.1

We wish to object to the proposed dwellings on the meadow to the
rear of Cleeve Park Cottages.
This application should not be allowed under the Infill Policy. This is
not a small gap between dwellings or a site closely surrounded by
buildings. The only buildings near this site are Cleeve Park Cottages,
the houses to the south are a considerable distance away.
This is a large site for Goring and is over 0.5 hectares and would be
extending the size of the village. This pleasant green meadow is
teeming with wild life. In addition to the species mentioned in the
ecological report there are Barn Owls, Tawny Owls, Great Spotted
Woodpeckers and Green Woodpeckers.
The development will have a detrimental impact on this AONB.
This site GNP2/GOR4 is one of those under consideration by the
Goring Neighbourhood Plan. It would be wrong to circumvent this
democratic process by granting permission for this development under
another guise. The outcome of the Neighbourhood Plan should be
respected. To act now on a site that has already been consulted on
and under consideration for Goring’s allocated extra housing needs
would render this process pointless and a waste of money, time and
personal commitment by all those involved.
The access to this site is very narrow with poor sight lines on to
Icknield Road. The entrance is very near to the junction of Springhill
Road and next to the fire station and Goring scout hut. The number of
houses proposed is far too many given the limitations of the access
road and size of the site.
This site played a role as an emergency soak away for storm water.
Icknield Road and Elvendon Roads are both on hills and in our
experience Icknield Road can become a river during exceptional
rainfall.
Whilst the application attempts to suggest that all 'significant trees and
landscape features' will be maintained, several large and mature trees
have already been removed from the site by the developer.
The gardens of the development appear to be relatively short, and on
the south side will be in close proximity to the hedges and trees of the
gardens along Elvendon Road. This greenery affords us privacy at the
rear of the garden, but may impact on the light of any property built so
near to the boundary. We would request assurances that any
development would not jeopardise our privacy by restricting the height
of our existing boundary now or in the future.
Overall, the proposal detracts from the character of this part of the
village, which sits on the rise of the Chiltern Hills in the AONB and at
the end of the unspoilt Elvendon valley. The site has never been
developed and clearly does not form part of any garden or backfill

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P16/S3263/SCR – EIA Not required (12/10/2016)

Screening opinion request for new Access road and erection of 11 new
dwellings
P16/S1067/PEJ - Letter Response (11/05/2016)
Construction of new access road and erection of 12 new dwellings of which 5 to be
affordable.
P62/H0126 - Refused (25/04/1962) Undesirable backland development. Inadequate
access. Loss of agricultural land.
Page 7

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

Site for 11 houses and garages with new estate road off Icknield Way.
5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1 - Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEM1 - Supporting a successful economy
CSEN1 - Landscape protection
CSH1 - Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2 - Housing density
CSH3 - Affordable housing
CSH4 - Meeting housing needs
CSI1 - Infrastructure provision
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy

5.2

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
C10 - Landscape Features
C4 - Landscape setting of settlements
C6 - Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
C9 - Loss of landscape features
CON13 - Archaeological investigation recording & publication
D1 - Principles of good design
D10 - Waste Management
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7 - Access for all
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2 - Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP3 - Adverse affect by external lighting
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G3 - Development well served by facilities and transport
G4 - Protection of Countryside
H4 - Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.3

National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance
Chilterns AONB Management Plan 2014-2019
Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Page 8

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The council carried out a consultation on the Preferred Options of the Local Plan 2032
in the summer of 2016. This proposes to allocate housing in rural communities through
the neighbourhood plan process.
Emerging Goring Neighbourhood Plan.
Goring are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan but the plan carries
limited weight at this stage – see paragraph 6.15 -6.17.

5.4

Environmental Impact.
Given the AONB location of the site there is a need to screen the application to assess
whether an Environmental Statement is required. The proposal is below the indicative
thresholds of 150 dwellings and 5 hectare site area set out in Schedule 2 of the Town
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Amendment) Regulations
2015. The main issues to be considered are highway safety, landscape, neighbour and
ecology impacts and drainage. The application has been supported by sufficient
documents for these aspects of the scheme to be considered in full. Thus, it is
considered an Environmental Statement is not required for this proposal and the
development is not EIA development. This recommendation holds when considering
the impact of this development cumulatively with the permitted sites in the village and
area. A formal screening opinion was issued on 12 October 2016.
Other Relevant Legislation
 The Chilterns Design Guide
 The AONB Management Plan
 Environmental Impact Regulations, as amended 2015
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation Human Rights Act 1998
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998
 Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006
 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Equality Act 2010 section 149
 CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended)

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:


The principle of the development, including:
- how the development of the site fits with the council’s spatial strategy,
- whether the proposal represents a major development and if any
exceptional circumstances exist,
- accordance with the Neighbourhood Plan.



Matters of detail / technical issues, including:
- landscape impact,
- design and layout,
- ecology,
- trees,
- highway safety and traffic impact,
- affordable housing,
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage.
- provision of garden areas

Page 9

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017



Infrastructure requirements, including:
-

on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

6.2

The Principle of Development. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless materials considerations indicate
otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. In the case
of South Oxfordshire, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the Core
Strategy which was adopted in December 2012, the saved policies of the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and any relevant neighbourhood plans. Development
which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should be refused
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.3

Goring is designated as a ‘larger village’ in the Core Strategy. Policy CSS1 sets out an
overall strategy for the District, which seeks, among other things, to support and
enhance the larger villages as local service centres, while focusing ‘major new
development’ at Didcot and supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and Wallingford.

6.4

Policy CSH1 identified the distribution of housing within South Oxfordshire including
housing in the 12 larger villages. Policy CSR1 indicates that housing provision in the
villages will be achieved through allocations, infill development and rural exception sites
for affordable housing and that there would be no limit on infill development in these
settlements.

6.5

The Core Strategy definition of infill development is “the filling of a small gap in an
otherwise built-up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely
surrounded by buildings”. The site is on the edge of the village, however, due to its
location between Icknield Road and Elvendon Road, it is almost completely surrounded
by residential garden areas except for a short 30 metre length on the north eastern
side. The site is close to buildings on Icknield Road (20m distance). Whilst the density
of development on Elvendon Road is less and distances to the dwellings is greater
(30m at closest point), it is my view that the site falls within the definition of an infill site
and development here would accord with the Council’s spatial strategy. In addition the
site is allocated for the development of approximately 10 houses in the emerging
Goring Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) and has been found to be a sustainable location.

6.6

To significantly boost the supply of housing, the NPPF requires local planning
authorities to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites
sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements.
This supply should include an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition
in the market for land. Alternatively, where there has been persistent under delivery of
housing, the buffer should increase to 20% to provide a realistic prospect of achieving
the planned supply.

6.7

The most recent evidence base that informs the council’s housing requirements is the
2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). To meet the identified housing
need for the district, the SHMA committed economic growth housing forecast is 750
homes per annum. This is a sizable uplift from the requirement for 547 homes per
annum set out in the SOCS.

6.8

Based on the evidence in the SHMA and past delivery, the council has a housing land
supply in the region of 3.8 years (including the 20% buffer for under delivery). Therefore
Page 10

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

the council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. In these
circumstances, Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that relevant policies for the supply of
housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land and the ‘presumption in
favour of sustainable development’ should be applied. Policy CSR1 clearly relates to
housing supply and is not up to date.
6.9

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF advises that there is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development. For decision-taking this means approving development
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; and where the
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:
– any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this
Framework taken as a whole; or
– specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be
restricted.
Footnote 4 (formerly footnote 9) of the NPPF introduces the specific policies in the
NPPF that indicate development should be restricted. Amongst these are policies
relating to an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty designated historic assets such as
conservation areas.

6.10 Given that the site is located within the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB),
the presumption in favour of sustainable development within the NPPF is not engaged
unless the requirements set out in para 115 and 116 are met. Paragraph 14 of the
NPPF transfers assessment of the application to paragraphs 115 and 116 of the NPPF.
If development does not conflict with paragraphs 115 and 116 then the presumption in
favour of sustainable development will apply.
6.11 Whether the proposal represents a major development and if any exceptional
circumstances exist
Paragraph 115 of the NPPF confirms that "great weight" should be given to conserving
and enhancing the character and qualities of the AONB “which have the highest status
of protection”. This reinforces the statutory duty placed on the council under S85 of the
Countryside Rights of Way Act 2000. In addition, paragraph 116 confirms that planning
permission for major developments within AONBs should be refused unless there are
exceptional circumstances and where it is in the public interest to grant planning
permission.
6.12 In assessing whether paragraph 116 is engaged it needs to be established whether the
development constitutes major development in the AONB. In this context, the NPPF
definition of “major” development is not the same as the “ten houses or more” definition
used for classifying application types in the Development Management Procedure
Order. The use of the word “major” in the NPPF is a more relative term and it is
through case law that the quantum of what constitutes major development in the AONB
has been determined. Case law to date indicates that factors such as the size of the
development relative to the existing settlement and the severity of the development’s
impact on the landscape are all factors in the assessment of what represents “major”
development in the AONB.
6.13 In this case the proposal is for 10 dwellings giving an approximate population of 23 people
(2.3 per household). The population of Goring is in the region of 3500. The population
increase associated with the proposal would equate to less than 1% of the total
population, in my view this quantum of development is not major development for the
purposes of para 116 of the NPPF. However, to ensure that AONB considerations are
Page 11

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

addressed in full I will address para 116 further.
In para 116 cases, the council consideration of such applications must include an
assessment of;




The need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations,
and the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy.
The cost of, and scope for developing elsewhere outside the designated area,
or meeting the need for it in some other way
Any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational
opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated.

6.14 Goring is washed over by the AONB and there is a pressing need for housing which
cannot be met in any other way other than by a site in the AONB. Such a need can
constitute an exceptional circumstance for allowing major development in the AONB
where development is in the public interest. This site is one of the allocated sites for
residential development in the emerging GNP following on from a detailed analysis of
potential harm of all the shortlisted sites. The chosen sites are those that show the least
harm to the special landscape qualities and beauty of the AONB. Much of the GNP work
has already carefully assessed this site against the para 116 bullet points.
6.15 Goring Neighbourhood Plan. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be
given to relevant policies in emerging plans, unless other material considerations
indicate otherwise, and only subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of
unresolved objections and the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies
with the NPPF.
6.16 Goring Parish are currently preparing the draft GNP and have selected their sites for
new residential development. The results of the site selections process were the
subject of a public exhibition on 10 December 2016. The site the subject of this
application is one of the neighbourhood plan selected sites (GNP2) and is anticipated
to be able to accommodate 10 dwellings. The plan has yet to be published in full form.
It will need to be submitted to the council for approval and then tested by an external
examiner. A referendum date is anticipated in May 2017.
6.17 The proposed development would not only accord with the Council’s spatial strategy
but it also accords with the draft GNP. However, the parish council maintain their
objection to the scheme. They object to the classification of the development as “infill”
because infill development does not count towards the growth numbers required for
Goring. The GNP suggests that land for 86 dwellings is required for the growth of
Goring between now and 2030. The Core Strategy envisaged growth of approximately
105 dwellings. However, the emerging 2032 local plan anticipates additional housing to
accommodate the SMHA figures. It proposes to deliver 10 percent growth in the larger
villages (based on the existing housing stock of the settlement).

Page 12

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

6.18 Matters of detail / technical issues
Landscape impact. The whole of the site is within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB). The fundamental aim of planning policies for the AONB is to
conserve and enhance its natural beauty and landscape quality. The application
includes a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). In addition The Goring
Neighbourhood Plan group commissioned a detailed Landscape Capacity Study for all
of the shortlisted sites from Bramhill Design. The conclusions of both assessments are
similar. In relation to this site, the NP study has concluded the following.

Extracts from Goring Neighbourhood Plan: Landscape Capacity Study - pages 29, GNP2-1 and GNP-5

6.19 An over-riding principle of the NPPF is that any development within the Chilterns or
North Wessex Downs should conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the AONB
and in so doing not result in harm to the special qualities of the AONB (para 14, 113,
115). Major development should not take place in the AONB, except in exceptional
circumstances (para 116). The conclusions of the GNP, the LVIA with the application
and Council’s Landscape Capacity Study are that the site is suitable for development
on landscape and visual grounds subject to buffer planting on the north eastern

Page 13

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

boundary. Such landscaping can be controlled through a landscaping condition.
6.20 Design and layout.
The application is in outline only, but includes layout at this stage. Design/ appearance
and scale are to be considered later at reserved matters stage. The layout provides for
a cul de sac of 10 no two storey dwellings with 23 parking spaces. Most parking spaces
are provided on plot apart from plots 2 and 3 where parking is provided in a parking
court. The parking court also includes some visitor parking. Storage sheds are also
shown within each garden. The cul- de sac includes access for maintenance to a
wildlife area on the site. Icknield Place to the west and Icknield Close to the north are
similar forms of cul-de-sac development in the immediate vicinity. As such, a new culde-sac in this location is entirely in keeping with the character of the area.
6.21 Ecology.
Policy CSB1 seeks to ensure that there is a no net loss for biodiversity as a result of
new developments and seeks to achieve a net gain. The NPPF supports this stance
and at Paragraph 109 calls for developments to minimise the impacts on biodiversity
and provide net gains where possible contributing to the Government’s commitment to
halt the overall decline of biodiversity. Objectors have expressed concern about the
loss of habitat and protected species on the site.
6.22 The site has been the subject of ecological surveys conducted by the applicant and by
the District Council during the preparation of the Local Plan. The main ecological
constraints identified are;
 a good population of slow-worms,
 a low population of grass snake; and,
 an area of UK Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) Priority Habitat grassland.
The high population of slow-worms found on site suggests that the site is already at or
near its natural carrying capacity for the species. Slow-worm and grass snake are
protected under section 9(1) and all of subsection 9(5) of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981. This protects the species from intentional or reckless killing and injury and
against sale and transportation for sale. The proposals involve the destruction of the
habitats for common reptiles across approximately 75% of the site during the
construction process and has the potential to cause the killing and injury of reptiles. The
Ecological Report proposes mitigation designed to reduce the likelihood of the
construction activities causing harm to the reptile population. The mitigation includes
clearing reptiles from within the footprint of the construction activities and a combination
of translocating them to the retained habitat on site (which may already be at or near its
carrying capacity) and translocation off site to a suitable alternative location.
6.23 The applicant has submitted an acceptable Wildlife Area Plan for the retained slow
worm population on site and have suggested an alternative site for translocation of slow
worms to the Withymead Nature Reserve, as site in close proximity to the north near
the Leathern Bottle PH, Bridle Way, Goring. Subject to recommended conditions 4 and
5 which require a habitat management plan for the on-site wildlife area and a method
statement for reptile protection and translocation, the scheme is acceptable in terms of
the impact on ecology.
6.24 Tree impact.
The majority of the trees growing around this site are protected by a tree preservation
orders and are outside of the red edged site area. The Forestry Officer has no objection
in principle to the development of the site subject to some further slight revisions to the
submitted Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and service plan so all contractors
working on site understand what is required. A revised AMS has been received with the
required amendments and the Forestry Officers comments on the revisions will be
Page 14

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

reported verbally at the meeting. I envisage that recommended condition 7 will need to
be revised.
6.25 Highway safety and traffic impact.
The County Highways Officer has raised no objection to the application subject to the
imposition of conditions and the completion of a legal agreement to secure a
contribution towards the enhancement of local public transport infrastructure. In coming
to this conclusion, the highways officer has considered the suitability of the access,
level of parking provision provided within the site, the accessibility of the site for
sustainable modes of travel, and trip generation.
6.26 The County Highways Officer is of the view that the trip distribution on the highway
network would be acceptable. In terms of the accessibility of the site, it is within
walking distance of a number of services and facilities, which would also be accessible
by cycling. There is also a bus service through the village and a financial contribution
for bus stop infrastructure at the nearby service 134 stops on Icknield Road would
enhance the attractiveness of public transport. A travel information pack for new
residents would also help to encourage residents of the site to use alternative modes of
transport to the private car.
6.27 I am satisfied that the highway matters could be adequately address through
conditions, the completion of a legal agreement, and the submission of details through
a reserved matters application. As such, the proposal is acceptable in terms of
highway safety.
6.28 Affordable housing.
There is a net gain of 10 dwellings on the site. Policy CSH3 of the core strategy seeks
to achieve 40% of affordable housing on sites where there is a net gain of 3 houses.
6.29 However, in May 2016 the Court of Appeal effectively re-instated the Government’s
ministerial statement on affordable housing from November 2014. This means that
developments of no more than 10 homes (with a gross floorspace not exceeding 1,000
sq m) would be exempted from levies for affordable housing and tariff-based
contributions. In designated rural areas, National Parks and AONBs, the exemptions
would apply only to developments not exceeding 5 new homes; developments of 6 to
10 homes would pay a commuted sum rather than providing affordable housing on site.
The commuted sum would be payable either at or after completion of the development.
In the case of this site the requirement to provide affordable housing would only be
triggered on schemes for 6 houses or more because of the AONB location and only
applies on units 6 – 10. For these 5 units over the threshold in this scheme we would
apply the formula for two of the units (40% of 5).
Using the Affordable Housing Viability Study Update 2011 formula, the commuted sum
for one whole unit would be £196,020 so the total due for 2 units = £320,000. This
commuted sum will be secured by a S106 agreement.
6.30 Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents.
Based on the layout and the separation that is achieved between the proposed
dwellings and neighbouring properties, I am of the opinion that the development of the
site will not have any adverse impacts on neighbours in terms of light, outlook and
privacy. The distance between dwellings on Icknield Road and the new dwellings is
over 30m, the distance to properties on Elvendon Road is considerably greater. In
addition the existing boundary screening provided by trees and shrubs is considerable.
These distances are in excess of the minimum back to back distances recommended in
the Design Guide and are acceptable in my view.
Page 15

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

6.31 I am also satisfied that the proposed layout ensures that there would be no adverse
overlooking, or loss of light and outlook, between plots.
6.32 Flood risk and surface / foul drainage.
The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding) and as such,
there are no objections to the development in relation to flood risk.
6.33 The site is known to be susceptible to surface water flooding and a detailed scheme for
the site would need to incorporate a Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) compliant
strategy to ensure that all surface water run-off is accommodated within the confines of
the site and discharged in a controlled manner. As advised by the council’s drainage
consultant, the details of this could be secured by condition. Details of foul drainage
are also to be secured by condition.
6.34 Provision of garden areas. Minimum standards for new residential development are
recommended in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and in saved Policy D3 of the
Local Plan. A minimum of 100 square metres for three and four (or above) bed
dwellings is required. All the properties will be three bedroomed dwellings and 100
square metres of garden area should be provided for each dwelling. In this case the
garden sizes for plots 1 and 2 are below the standard at some 93 square metres in
size. Plots 9 and 10 are also substandard at approx. 83 square metres in size. All other
garden sizes are in excess of the requirement.
6.35 The layout also provides for a wildlife area of some 1650 square metres. The wildlife
area will be an amenity to residents providing priority habitat grassland (PHG) and a
habitat for slow worms. This designation is not compatible with regular use as a play
area or public open space and it is envisaged that some form of post and rail fencing
will be provided to restrict some access. However, the provision of an interpretation
board would allow for explanation of the value of the space and the provision of a
bench within a restricted area would allow for appreciation of the space. Given the
provision of the wildlife area and the easy access to the surrounding countryside the
slight under provision of garden areas on 4 of the plots does not constitute a reason to
refuse planning permission in my view.
6.36 Infrastructure requirements
On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement
6.37 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning
Document, the following additional financial contributions would also be required
towards on-site infrastructure:
- commuted sum for affordable housing
- Street naming and numbering
- Provision of recycle bins
- Monitoring fee
6.38 As advised by the County highways officer, the following site specific highways
contributions would also need to be secured under a S106:
- Public transport contribution – the enhancement of local public transport
infrastructure, specifically the provision of a standard pole, flag and information
timetable case at each of the two unmarked bus stops on Icknield Road, of £1,320
- (BCIS Index, base Oct 2016)
6.39 I consider that these contributions / obligations would accord with policy CSI1 of the
SOCS, which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site
Page 16

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

infrastructure and services. They would also accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF
as they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are
directly related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and
kind to the development. In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, an
additional reason for refusal would need to be attached to be added to the decision
notice as the necessary contributions / obligations have not been secured.
6.40 Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy
The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016. With the
exception of the affordable housing, any additional floor space is usually CIL liable at a
rate of £156 per sq.m. The money collected can be pooled with contributions from
other development sites to fund a wide range of off-site infrastructure to support growth,
including schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.
6.41 Under the CIL regulations, the Parish Council would receive a proportion of CIL money.
This could be spent on infrastructure projects that are priorities for the community. If
the Neighbourhood Plan is made prior to the commencement of development, it would
receive 25 percent of the CIL money collected from the development (as opposed to 15
percent without a Neighbourhood Plan) to spend it on local projects or contribute
towards strategic infrastructure.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
As set out in the report, this is an infill site even though it is on the edge of the village.
It is a major application but there are exceptional circumstances to justify the
development and the detailed site selection work undertaken in the Neighbourhood
plan preparation supports development on the site. The site is also in a sustainable
location. Residential development on the site accords with the Council’s spatial
strategy and the site has been allocated for such development in the emerging GNP.
The Parish Council objection in relation to the numbers coming off the total dwellings
required for the growth of Goring is not a justifiable reason for refusing planning
permission given that there are no technical objections to the proposal.
The report describes the proposals in full and assesses the proposal against the
relevant material planning considerations. The three strands of sustainable
development are set out at paragraph 7 of the NPPF as economic, social and
environmental. All these have been considered throughout the report and my
conclusions against each of the strands is summarised below.
Economic role
The Government has made clear its view that house building plays an important role
in promoting economic growth. In economic terms, the scheme would provide
construction jobs and some local investment during its build out, as well as longer
term expenditure in the local economy supporting the ongoing vibrancy of the village.
I consider that moderate weight should be afforded to this benefit.
Social role
The proposal helps to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing
the supply of 10 houses towards those required to meet the needs of present and
future generations. It also does this by creating a high quality built environment, in a
sustainable location with accessible local services close by for new residents to use.
I consider moderate weight should be given to these social benefits.
Environmental role
In environmental terms, the scheme offers opportunities for habitat protection and
Page 17

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

translocation of a protected species, which is a matter to which I afford moderate
weight. This is an infill site even though it is on the edge of the village. It is a major
application for development within the AONB but there are exceptional
circumstances to justify the development and the detailed site selection work
undertaken in the Neighbourhood plan preparations supports development on the
site. There are no landscape objections to the scheme as the impact on the AONB
local and contained and some loss will be inevitable in order to secure the delivery of
the levels of housing required in South Oxfordshire over the plan period.
Although the parish and local residents have identified concerns there is no evidence
of harm that cannot be mitigated. There are no objections from Oxfordshire County
Council for highways and education and no other infrastructure providers have raised
objections.
Taking into account the benefits of the development and weighing these against the
limited harm, I consider that the proposal represents a sustainable development,
consistent with Paras.14, 115 and 116 of the NPPF and Policy CS1 of the South
Oxfordshire Core Strategy and the emerging GNP. The proposal would contribute
towards the objective to boost the supply of housing, consistent with Para.47 of the
NPPF. Therefore, placing all of the relevant material considerations in the balance I
conclude that the limited adverse impacts would not significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits of the proposal and recommend the application for approval,
subject to the prior completion of the relevant S106 Planning Obligation.
8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To delegate to the Head of Planning to grant outline planning permission subject
to the prior completion of the Section 106 agreement and the following
conditions:
1. Commencement - outline planning permission.
2. Commencement - outline with reserved matters.
3. Approved plans.
4. Habitat management plan.
5. Reptile protection.
6. Landscaping (including access road and hard standings).
7. Revised arboricultural method statement required.
8. Surface water drainage works (details required).
9. New vehicular access.
10. Vision splay details.
11. Carriageway and footways.
12. Construction traffic management.
13. Travel information pack.
14. Written scheme of investigation.
15. Staged programme of archaeological work.
16. Foul drainage works (details required).
17. Secured by design.
18. Mix of units.
19. Lifetime homes.
Author:
Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 18

Appendix
1
Agenda Item 6

TPO trees

The site

Page 19

REPTILE FENCE

Appendix 2

Scheduled of
Accommodation

Wildlife
Area

5
8

9

6

Revised
road
layout

4

Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot

7

BINS
FO

O
TP
A

4
TH

6

11

5
13

10

12

Reptile
fence

3

14

8

1
16

2

2
3

7

15

IP

17

TR

1

N
U

V
O

ER

S

9

R

e

FIRE STATION

10

g
Hed
w
e
N

RUN OVER STRIP

18

19
20

23
22
21

Reptile
fence

KEY:
2.

EXISTING TREES
TO BE REMOVED

REPTILE FENCE
CYCLE SHED
TRUNK MAIN
Page 20

RAW TRUNK MAIN

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

75m2
75m2
75m2
110m2
110m2
116m2
116m2
75m2
75m2
75m2

REPTILE FENCE

Appendix 2

©

Right of way

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
J
K
L

General revisions
General revisions
General revisions
Road layout revised
General revisions
Plots added
Access road boundary amended
Revised scheme - 13 units
TREES AMENDED
OPTION 2
OPTION 2 - general revisions

24.07.15
24.07.15
24.07.15
18.08.15
19.08.15
21.08.15
06.11.15
25.01.16
25.01.16
09.02.16
13.02.16

Scheduled of
Accommodation

Right of way

Plot 1
Right of way
Plot 2

5

Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot
Plot

8

9

6

Revised
road
layout

4
BINS

Right of way
FO

O

7

75m2
75m2
75m2
110m2
110m2
116m2
116m2
75m2
75m2
75m2

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

4

TP
A
TH

6

11

5
13

10

12

7

15

3

14

8

1

Right of way

16

2

2
3

IP
TR

1
U
R

N

V
O

ER

17

S

9
e

FIRE STATION

10

g
Hed
w
e
N

RUN OVER STRIP

18

19
20

23
22
21

KEY:
2.

1:200 scale Bar
This Drawing has been produced for printing onto Extended
A1(549x1100) size paper, If printing on A3 please use the scale
below for reference.

EXISTING TREES
TO BE REMOVED

REPTILE FENCE
CYCLE SHED

2m

0m
1m

8m
16 m

4m

Day Tanner Partnership
Elegant Homes
Goring LTD

Wokingham

ARCHITECTURE
AND
PLANNING

Reading

Icknield Road, Goring

Page 21

TRUNK MAIN

Proposed Site Plan ROW

RAW TRUNK MAIN

1:200

DN

Jan 2016

3164 / 204 A

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee –13 February 2017

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBERS
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
OFFICER

P16/S2623/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
2.8.2016
HENLEY-ON-THAMES
Joan Bland
Stefan Gawrysiak
Lorraine Hillier
Edwards
White Lodge Normanstead HENLEY-ON-THAMES,
RG9 1XR
Variation of condition 10 of planning permission
P15/S1166/FUL, to revise the landscaping proposal
(as amended by further revised boundary treatment
plan received 03 October 2016).
As above
Simon Kitson

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application was referred to the Planning Committee as the officers’
recommendation conflicts with the views of the local ward member and Henley Town
Council. This proposal was deferred at the 14 December committee meeting to allow
for further negotiations with the applicant regarding the planting scheme.

1.2

The application property (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A)
comprises a recently erected, detached, two storey dwelling set within a plot of
approximately 0.13ha. The site does not fall within a designated area.

1.3

Planning permission for the new build was granted by the area planning committee in
2015, under application ref: P15/S1166/FUL. The approval was subject to a number of
conditions, which included the permanent retention of a number of trees at the site
boundaries and the provision of tree protection measures during the course of the
construction works. Condition 10 of the decision notice states:Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all existing
hedges and trees shown to be retained, at the south-east boundary with Rose
Cottage and the south-west boundary with the properties at The Close, shall
be preserved and properly maintained at a height of at least 5m from the
ground level at White Lodge. In the event of any of the trees dying or being
seriously damaged or destroyed, a new tree or equivalent number of trees, as
the case may be, of a species first approved by the Local Planning Authority,
shall be planted and properly maintained in a position or positions first
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and to safeguard trees and
other vegetation which are visually important, in accordance with Policy CSQ3
of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and Policies D4, G2, C9 and D1
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

1.4

A copy of the previously approved plans and decision notice is attached as Appendix
B.

Page 23

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee –13 February 2017

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
This application follows the subsequent removal of the trees by the developer, in
breach of the planning condition. As detailed in the application submission, consent is
now sought for the variation of Condition 10 of the previous approval, to allow for a
replacement planting scheme.

2.2

Following a number of revisions, the applicant proposed 8 Quercus Ilex (Oak) at the
south-west boundary with the properties at The Close; and 13 Phyllastachys Aurea
(Bamboo) at the south-east boundary with Rose Cottage. This planting scheme
commenced in November.

2.3

Following the subsequent deferral of the planning application by the area committee, a
further revision to the proposal has been submitted. An additional 7 Bamboo plants
would be planted behind the line of oak trees in order to provide additional screening
between the gaps while they thicken to form a hedge.

2.4

A copy of the final proposed planting scheme is attached as Appendix C. The
consultation responses and supporting documentation can be viewed on the council’s
website at: www.southoxon.co.uk

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Henley-on-Thames Town Council – Objection (all revisions)
Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No objection to the proposed
planting schemes. The boundary treatment will strike an acceptable
balance between providing the necessary screening whilst achieving the most
usable garden space for the future occupants of the new dwelling, provided that it is
properly maintained.
Neighbour Objections (6)
 The applicants should provide the same boundary treatment which existed prior
to the construction works
 Significant concerns raised over privacy and overlooking. Conifer trees should
be planted with a 5m minimum height
 The Bamboo screening may be acceptable at the Rose cottage boundary, but
only if it is maintained effectively as a hedge
 The proposed planting at the boundary with the properties at The Close is only
acceptable if the trees are maintained at a height of 5/6m from the ground level
at the neighbouring property.

4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P16/S0356/FUL - Withdrawn (09/05/2016)
Variation of Condition 10 Landscaping on application ref. P15/S1166/FUL
P15/S1166/FUL - Approved (01/07/2015)
Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of new house and garage

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
The Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan (JHHNP) policies;
H4 – Infill and self build dwellings
DQS1 – Local character

Page 24

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee –13 February 2017

5.2

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;
CSHEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames
CSQ3 - Design
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy

5.3

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011(SOLP) policies;
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
C9 - Loss of landscape features
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
D1 - Principles of good design
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
H4 - Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SOLP)

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
It is fully acknowledged that the planning committee imposed a condition on the original
consent, specifying that the trees at the neighbouring boundaries would be retained,
and at a height of 5m from ground level at White Lodge. It is regrettable that the trees
were subsequently removed in breach of this condition and the council has lodged an
enforcement investigation into this matter. However, the applicant has submitted this
application to vary the condition in order to provide a replacement planting scheme of a
similar height to the previous hedging. Whilst it is accepted that this situation has
caused frustration locally, officers are obliged to assess the current application against
the Development Plan and consider whether the revised planting scheme would fulfil
the purpose of the original condition.

6.2

In assessing this application and considering the expediency of possible enforcement
action, the council must have regard to the national statutory guidance on the use of
conditions in planning applications. The NPPF clearly states that “Planning conditions
should only be imposed where they are: necessary; relevant to planning and to the
development to be permitted; enforceable; precise and; reasonable in all other
respects.” (Paragraph 206). The NPPG states that: “a condition must not be imposed
unless there is a definite planning reason for it, i.e. it is needed to make the
development acceptable in planning terms...if a condition is wider in scope than is
necessary to achieve the desired objective it will fail the test of necessity”.

6.3

Having regard to the purpose of the original condition, as referenced in the decision
notice, the main issues for consideration in this application are as follows:


Whether the proposal is acceptable in terms of the relationship with the
surrounding landscape
Whether the revised boundary treatment would mitigate the current impact upon
neighbouring amenity to an acceptable degree

Page 25

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee –13 February 2017

6.4

Landscape Impact
The landscaping scheme has been through several revisions since its submission and
this application itself follows a scheme (P16/S0356/FUL) which was withdrawn following
officer’s concerns over the adequacy of the pleached trees originally proposed.

6.5

Although the application site is within the built-up confines of Henley, close to the town
centre, this area of housing is set back from the residential frontage along Greys Hill,
and accessed via a relatively secluded private road where there is generally a less rigid
grain of development. Although many of the trees and hedges within the site were not
of particular arboricultural value they did nonetheless contribute to the verdant
character of the area. Under the original application for the replacement dwelling,
officers were keen to secure the retention of the boundary treatment in order to mitigate
the impacts on both neighbouring amenity and the surrounding landscape.

6.6

Through extensive discussion with the Forestry Team, officers are satisfied that the
proposed planting scheme would help soften the visual impact of the proposed dwelling
and the associated landscaping works. It is noted that concerns have been raised by a
neighbour over the decline of the Horse Chestnut tree at the north-west corner of the
site and the associated safety issues. If the committee are minded to grant approval, it
is suggested that the conditions allow for a possible variation of the scheme to be
agreed in writing. Should this tree require removal, details of mitigation planting would
need to be agreed with the council.

6.7

6.8

6.9

Neighbouring Amenity
There are objections raised by local residents, Henley Town Council and the local ward
member to all revisions of the replacement planting scheme. They argue that the
replacement planting does not satisfactorily mitigate the privacy impact of the
development. The neighbours’ specific concerns focus primarily upon the density of the
planting already undertaken, uncertainties over the maintenance requirements and
enforceability of the original planning condition.
Officers have made a number of visits to the application site and neighbouring
properties and sought specialist advice from the council’s Forestry Team. There are two
aspects to the scheme under consideration here: the bamboo planting at the boundary
with Rose Cottage to the south-east; and the Oak planting at the south-west boundary
with the properties at The Close.
Rose Cottage
The objection to the planting scheme from the residents at Rose Cottage was
withdrawn on 16 December following the previous committee meeting. They are now
satisfied with the proposal, provided that the conditions recommended within the report
are attached to any planning permission should the committee be minded to grant
approval.

6.10 Whilst the dwelling is highly visible from the living accommodation and gardens at Rose
Cottage, it is well established that the impact of a proposal upon private views is not a
material planning consideration. The purpose of the original condition was not to screen
all views of the development, rather it was to ensure that there is an acceptable level of
privacy to the occupiers of both the new property and the neighbouring dwellings.

Page 26

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee –13 February 2017

6.11 With regard to overlooking, it is noted that the only first floor window at the new dwelling
facing Rose Cottage is obscure glazed, as per Condition 4 of the original consent and
the privacy of the ground floor accommodation at both properties is secured by the
substantial new fence at the property boundary. The main window at Rose Cottage
facing the development serves a landing at the top of the neighbour’s internal stairwell.
It does not serve a room comprising primary living accommodation. Furthermore, the
adjacent rooflight serves a bathroom and, due to the distance from the development
and the roof pitch, there is no loss of privacy. Although there is a front-facing bedroom
window at Rose Cottage, it is towards the eastern end of the dwelling and it overlooks
the neighbour’s driveway. Any views of other parts of the application property from this
room would be very oblique.
The Close
6.12 Officers accept that the relationship between the application site and the neighbouring
properties at The Close has significantly changed following the removal of the
substantial hedging and the scale of the new dwelling. This has inevitably impacted on
the outlook from the gardens, reduced the level of privacy afforded to these properties
and increased the perception of overlooking. In assessing the suitability of the
replacement planting, officers have to accept that it is not reasonable, having regard to
national and local planning policy, to require new developments to be completely
screened in views from neighbour’s gardens. In assessing the degree of harm of the
privacy impact arising from the removal of the trees, officers have regard to the design
standards set out within the SODG.
6.13 It is noted that the neighbours all benefit from garden areas close to 10m in depth and
the application property comfortably exceeds this. The distance between the rear facing
windows at the application property and the living accommodation at the majority of the
neighbouring properties also exceeds the 25m minimum recommended in the council’s
adopted design guidance, irrespective of the loss of the boundary treatment.
6.14 It is noted that the removal of the previous hedge has resulted in a situation where
directly facing windows between a projecting gable at White Lodge and the living room
at no. 43 The Close, are separated by a distance around 1.5m less than the 25m
SODG recommendation. However, the case officer has visited both properties and is
satisfied that the planting now undertaken does mitigate the loss of privacy. The view
from the neighbour’s living room to the bedroom in the gable is already substantially
obscured by one of the Oak trees and this relationship will improve as the tree
develops.
6.15 The applicant has also proposed bamboo screening at this boundary following the
previous committee meeting. They maintain that the additional Oak trees sought by the
local ward member could not go in between the existing trees due to the size of their
root balls. It is asserted that bamboo would provide a better alternative here as they
have smaller root balls and could be positioned closer to the line of existing trees. The
council’s Forestry officer does not disagree with this assessment.
6.16 Concerns were raised over the gaps between the planted trees at both boundaries and
the timescales for their growth to form a more substantial hedge. However, the Forestry
Team originally advised that the Bamboo will thicken as the plants mature, to provide a
denser screen which would be relatively easy to maintain. The Oak trees will continue
to fill the gaps over time, provided that the tops are clipped annually. Although the full
level of opaque Oak hedging expected by the neighbours may take 2 – 3 years to
achieve, officers are satisfied that the additional bamboo planting now proposed would
adequately compensate for the gaps in between the trees as the level of screening
develops.

Page 27

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee –13 February 2017

6.17 Officers therefore do not consider that there is a reasonable basis to refuse this
application as the planting scheme now provided will satisfactorily mitigate the loss of
privacy to the neighbouring properties. The amended scheme fulfils the purpose of the
original planning condition.
7.0

CONCLUSION
The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and national
planning guidance. The Council is satisfied that the proposed replacement planting
scheme would help soften the visual impact of the development and it would provide a
reasonable level of privacy for both occupants of the new dwelling and the occupants of
the surrounding neighbouring properties.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:
1. The development hereby approved must be implemented strictly in
accordance with the approved plans.
2. The additional bamboo planting shown on the revised landscaping
scheme ref: 1643LP1 rev D, shall be planted within the approved position,
prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved.
3. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all
parts of the agreed planting scheme at the south-east boundary with Rose
Cottage and the south-west boundary with the properties at The Close,
shall be preserved and properly maintained as a hedge with a height of at
least 5m from the ground level at White Lodge. In the event of any of the
trees dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed, a new tree or
equivalent number of trees, as the case may be, of a species first
approved by the Local Planning Authority, shall be planted and properly
maintained in a position or positions first approved by the Local Planning
Authority.

Author:
Simon Kitson
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 28

Agenda Item
Appendix
A7

Page 29

SCALE DRAWINGS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE PRIOR
TO COMMENCMENT AND ANY DISCREPANCY REPORTED
TO RCCA
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT AND CANNOT BE REPRODUCED
IN PART OR WHOLE WITHOUT WRITTEN CONSENT OF RCCA

EXISTING ACCESS ALTERED TO SUIT NEW
GARAGE LOCATION.
ACCESS TO ROSE COTTAGE MAINTAINED
AT ALL TIMES

EXISTING WALL
RETAINED
OUTLINE OF DWELLING
DEMOLISHED

REVISIONS
A

CAR TURNING NOTED

JUNE 15

EXISTING TREES
RETAINED

Clarks Barn, Bassetsbury Lane, High Wycombe, Bucks HP11 1QX
T 01494 888000 F 01494 888008 E RICClark@richardclarkarchitects.co.uk
CONTRACT
EXISTING TREES
RETAINED

Appendix B

CLIENT

DRAWING

Page 30

DRAWN

DATE

SCALE

JOB / DRWG No

COPYRIGHT
C

Page 31

SCALE DRAWINGS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY
ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE PRIOR
TO COMMENCMENT AND ANY DISCREPANCY REPORTED
TO RCCA
THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT AND CANNOT BE REPRODUCED
IN PART OR WHOLE WITHOUT WRITTEN CONSENT OF RCCA

Clarks Barn, Bassetsbury Lane, High Wycombe, Bucks HP11 1QX
T 01494 888000 F 01494 888008 E RICClark@richardclarkarchitects.co.uk
CONTRACT

CLIENT

DRAWING

Page 32

DRAWN

DATE

SCALE

JOB / DRWG No

COPYRIGHT
C

PLANNING
P15/S1166/FUL

Planning Decision
Oraclemarker Ltd
c/o Mr Richard Clark
Clarks Barn
Bassetsbury Lane
High Wycombe
Buckinghamshire
HP11 1QX
PLANNING PERMISSION

Application No : P15/S1166/FUL
Application proposal, including any amendments :
Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of new house and garage
Site Location : White Lodge Normanstead Henley-on-Thames RG9 1XR

South Oxfordshire District Council hereby gives notice that planning permission is
GRANTED for the carrying out of the development referred to above strictly in
accordance with the description, plans and specifications contained in the application
(as varied by any amendments as referred to above) subject to the following
condition(s) :
1.

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: By virtue of Sections 91 to 95 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

2.

That the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with
the details shown on the following approved plans, 1373-P1, 1373-P2 and
LOC-001, except as controlled or modified by conditions of this permission.
Reason: To secure the proper planning of the area in accordance with
Development Plan policies.

www.southoxon.gov.uk

page 1 / 7
Page 33

P15/S1166/FUL
3.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a turning area
and car parking spaces shall be provided within the curtilage of the site so that
motor vehicles may enter, turn round and leave in a forward direction and
vehicles may park off the highway. The turning area and parking spaces shall
be constructed, laid out, surfaced, drained and completed in strict accordance
with the approved plans. The turning area and car parking spaces shall be
retained unobstructed except for the parking and manoeuvring of motor
vehicles at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of offstreet car parking in accordance with Policies T1 and T2 of the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

4.

The surfacing for the new parking area to the front of the site shall be
constructed in permeable materials, or provision shall be made to direct surface
water run-off to a permeable area within the curtilage of the site.
Reason: In order to ensure that no surface water is discharged on to the
adjacent highway.

5.

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved samples of all
materials to be used in the external construction and finishes of the
development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development in
accordance with Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and
Policies G2, H4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

6.

The first floor window in the south-east (side) elevation of the dwelling hereby
permitted shall be glazed in obscure glass, and shall be fixed shut with the
exception of a top hung openable fanlight, prior to the first occupation of the
accommodation and it shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the development is not unneighbourly in accordance
with Policies D4 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

7.

The garage accommodation hereby approved shall be retained as such and
shall not be adapted for living purposes without the prior written permission of
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of
adequate off-street car parking in accordance with Policies T1 and T2 of the
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

8.

Prior to the commencement of any site works (including demolition or site
clearance) a protected area shall be designated for all existing trees which are

page 2 / 7
Page 34

P15/S1166/FUL
shown to be retained, and the trees shall be protected in accordance with a
scheme which complies with the current edition of BS 5837: "Trees in relation
to design, demolition and construction" that shall first have been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The agreed measures
shall be kept in place during the entire course of development.
Reason: To safeguard trees which are visually important in accordance with
Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and Policies G2, C9
and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.
9.

Details of all boundary walls, fences and any other means of enclosure shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
commencement of any development. All such approved means of enclosure
shall be erected prior to the first occupation of the development.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development in
accordance with Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and
Policies G2, H4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

10. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all existing
hedges and trees shown to be retained, at the south-east boundary with Rose
Cottage and the south-west boundary with the properties at The Close, shall be
preserved and properly maintained at a height of at least 5m from the ground
level at White Lodge. In the event of any of the trees dying or being seriously
damaged or destroyed, a new tree or equivalent number of trees, as the case
may be, of a species first approved by the Local Planning Authority, shall be
planted and properly maintained in a position or positions first approved by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and to safeguard trees and
other vegetation which are visually important, in accordance with Policy CSQ3
of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and Policies D4, G2, C9 and D1
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.
11. A Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement
of development. The approved CTMP shall be implemented prior to any works
being carried out on site, and shall be maintained throughout the course of the
development.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of
construction vehicles on the surrounding highway network, road infrastructure
and local residents, particularly at morning and afternoon peak traffic times and
in accordance with Policy T1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that

page 3 / 7
Page 35

P15/S1166/FUL
Order), the enlargement, improvement or other alteration of any dwellinghouse
as described in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Order shall not be
undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the Local Planning Authority retains control over any future
development as specified in the condition in the interests of amenity and in
accordance with Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and
Policies G2, H4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.
NB: INFORMATIVE:
Your attention is drawn to the need to have regard to the requirements of UK
and European legislation related to the protection of certain wild plants and
animals. Approval under that legislation will be required and a licence may be
necessary if bats are affected by the development. If bats are discovered you
must be aware that to proceed with the development without seeking advice
from Natural England could result in prosecution.
NB: The above permission/consent may contain pre-conditions, which require
specific matters to be approved by the Local Planning Authority before a
specified stage in the development occurs. This means that a lawful
commencement of the approved development/works cannot be made until the
particular requirements of the pre-condition(s) have been met. Please read the
letter attached to the decision notice for further information.
NB: This approval is specific to the details of the development as shown on the
approved plans and other associated documentation. Unless otherwise agreed
by the Council any departure from the approved plans will constitute
unauthorised development and may be liable to enforcement action. As such
the Council must be advised in writing of any proposed variations from the
approved plans and other associated documentation at the earliest stage
possible. A decision will then be made as to whether the changes can be dealt
with as a minor revision to the approved details or whether a revised application
is required.
This permission refers only to that required under the Town and Country Planning
Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any other enactment,
byelaw, order or regulation.

page 4 / 7
Page 36

P15/S1166/FUL

Reason for Decision
The proposal is in accordance with the relevant development plan policies and
national planning policy. The proposal would not cause material harm to the overall
character and appearance of the surrounding area. Subject to the attached
conditions, the proposal is also considered acceptable in terms of the impact upon
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers it would not be prejudicial to highway safety.
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy
Framework the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals. The Planning Service works with applicants/agents in a positive and
proactive manner by offering a pre-application advice service and by advising
applicants/agents of issues that arise during the processing of their application and
where possible suggesting solutions to problems.
Note : A more detailed explanation is available in the officer's report, available in the
application case file.
Key Policies
1
C8
Adverse affect on protected species
C9
Loss of landscape features
CS1
Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSHEN1 The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames
CSQ3
Design
CSS1
The Overall Strategy
D1
Principles of good design
D3
Outdoor amenity area
D4
Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2
Protect district from adverse development
H4
Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1
Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2
Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
Note : The full wording of the above policies are available on our website or in the
local plan documents, at our offices.

Head of Planning
1st July 2015

page 5 / 7
Page 37

P15/S1166/FUL
STATUTORY INFORMATIVE
Appeals to the Secretary of State
If you are aggrieved by the decision of your local planning authority to refuse
permission for the proposed development or to grant it subject to conditions, then
you can appeal to the Secretary of State for the Environment under sections 78 and
79 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
If you want to appeal, then you must do so within six months of the date of this
notice, using a form which you can get from :
The Planning Inspectorate
Customer Support Unit
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Temple Quay
Bristol
BS1 6PN
Telephone : 0303 444 5000
www.planningportal.gov.uk
email: enquiries@pins.gsi.gov.uk.
The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but
he will not normally be prepared to use this power unless there are special
circumstances which excuse the delay in giving notice of appeal.
The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to him that the local
planning authority could not have granted planning permission for the proposed
development or could not have granted it without the conditions it imposed, having
regard to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of the development order and
to any directions given under the order.
In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely
because the local planning authority based its decision on a direction given by him.
Purchase Notice
If either the local planning authority or the Secretary of State for the Environment
refuses permission to develop land or grants its subject to conditions, the owner may
claim that he can neither put the land to a reasonably beneficial use in its existing
state nor can he render the land capable of a reasonably beneficial use by the
carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted.
In these circumstances, the owner may serve a purchase notice on the Council

page 6 / 7
Page 38

P15/S1166/FUL
(District Council, London Borough Council or Common Council of the City of London)
in whose area the land is situated. This notice will require the Council to purchase
his interest in the land in accordance with the provisions of Part VI, Chapter 1 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Compensation
In certain circumstances compensation may be claimed from the local planning
authority if permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of
State on appeal or on reference of the application to him.
These circumstances are set out in sections 114 and related provisions of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.
OTHER INFORMATION
The Planning Portal contains a wide range of helpful planning-related guidance and
services. You may wish to view their website (www.planningportal.gov.uk).

page 7 / 7
Page 39

Page 40

Appendix C

Agenda Item 8
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
GRID REFERENCE
OFFICER

P16/S3672/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
4.11.2016
ROTHERFIELD GREYS
David Nimmo-Smith
Charles Bailey
Dr Margaret Thomson
The Strip, Shepherd’s Green, RG9 4QW
Construction of detached private house (as
amended by plans received 20 December 2016 resiting the dwelling and external groundworks further
to the north to avoid the root protection area of
protected trees)
As above
471468/183351
Victoria Butterworth

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
I recommend this application for refusal because the principle of the proposed
development is contrary to policies in the development plan.

1.2

The application has been called to committee by ward councillor, Cllr David NimmoSmith for the following reasons:
 Permission was granted less than two years ago for an additional house on a
plot at “Shepherds” (P14/S1748/FUL & P15/S1059/FUL) on the Green in
Shepherd’s Green, which is no different to the current proposal.
 Core Strategy Policy CSR1 allows for infill development within "other villages"
such as this.

1.3

The application site is identified on the Ordnance Survey extract attached at
Appendix 1. The application site is a field that is located to the north-east of the main
nucleus of the settlement of Shepherd’s Green and to the east of residential property,
The Strip. The site is accessed via a lane which runs along the frontage (southern
boundary) of the site and serves three dwellings and some farm buildings to the east.
The site is largely open with the exception of two garage buildings and a derelict shed,
the ancillary nature of which do not detract from the site’s open appearance.

1.4

The land slopes downhill from the front to the rear of the site. There are mature trees
along all of the boundaries of the site but the northern (rear) boundary of the site is
partly open to fields beyond. The access lane along the frontage of the site is also
designated as a public footpath, and a second public footpath runs along the eastern
boundary of the site.

1.5

The application site falls within Shepherd’s Green Conservation Area and the
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It is also in an area of Shepherd’s
Green where post medieval buildings were potentially sited.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The application seeks planning permission for a new detached dwelling.

2.2

Amended plans re-siting the dwelling a few metres further to the north were submitted

Page 41

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

in response to an objection raised by the Forestry Officer.
2.3

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Rotherfield Greys Parish Council - Approve

3.2

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection, subject to
conditions requiring the improvement of the existing vehicular access, vision splay
details, and the retention of parking and manoeuvring areas.

3.3

Conservation Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - Object:
 The site is part of the rural open landscape that surrounds the designated
conservation area and is notably included within it, suggesting the open space
here is an important contributor to the area’s historic interest.
 The development would result in some harm to the special interest of the
conservation area and its character and appearance because it does not
conform to the established pattern, sits outside of the main nucleus of built
development and would diminish the contribution that the open character of the
site adds to the rural character of Shepherd’s Green.
 The harm to the conservation area would be less than substantial in the context
of paragraph 134 of the NPPF but less than substantial harm is not a less than
substantial objection. Officers should be satisfied that the benefits of delivering
just one new dwelling on the site would outweigh the harm to the special interest
of Shepherd’s Green Conservation Area, the character and appearance of
which should be preserved or enhanced by development as per the enabling
Planning Act and the NPPF.

3.4

Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No objection to the amended
siting of the proposed dwelling, subject to tree protection and landscaping conditions.

3.5

Drainage Engineer (South Oxfordshire - MONSON) - No objection to means of
drainage proposed.

3.6

Thames Water Development Control - No strong views. Informative recommended.

3.7

County Archaeological Services (Oxfordshire County Council) - No strong views: The
proposal would not appear to have an invasive impact on known archaeological sites or
features.

3.8

Eight letters of comment have been received from neighbours and other interested
parties:
 Six letters of objection
 Two letters of support
The comments made are summarised in the following paragraphs.

3.9

a) The National Trust - Objection
 The National Trust owns nearby Grey's Court, the estate of which includes the
open land at the centre of Shepherd’s Green and its adjacent lanes and verges.
There could be serious implications for future development in the area if the
proposal were to be granted planning permission.
 Proposal fails to meet the local and national policies for a raft of different

Page 42

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017



reasons, including it being a greenfield site within the Chilterns AONB and an
isolated site in a rural location.
Clearly not a sustainable form of development, a concept which is at the heart of
planning policy, and there are no overriding material considerations that would
outweigh the harm caused by it.

3.10

b) Council to Protect Rural England (Committee of South Oxfordshire) – Objection
 Contrary to policy CSR1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy:
the site is 0.34 hectares, more than three times the size permitted for
development in a village such as Shepherd’s Green, and it cannot be described
as an infill site.
Unsustainable rural location, there being few public services in the village, and
the proposal fails to meet the requirements of policy CSS1.
 The single, large detached house which is proposed will do nothing to meet the
genuine local need for affordable housing and will hardly contribute towards
remedying the shortfall in the District’s supply of housing land.
 Contrary to policy CSEN1 because it would set a dangerous precedent for
development within the Chilterns AONB, and it could be very damaging to the
AONB.

3.11

c) Objections and concerns raised by neighbours / local residents:
 Contrary to the Development Plan for South Oxfordshire and the National
Planning Policy Framework by virtue of the size, scale and location of the
proposal.
 Greefield site that lies outside the limits of the built up area in an isoloted
location.
 Unsustianable and inappropriate development in the open countryside as
defined by paragraph 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
 Inappropriate development that will impact on the natural landscape beauty of
the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty contrary to paragraph 115 of
the National Planning Policy Framework which states such areas have the
highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.
 Lack of demonstrable benefits arising from the development which would
outweith the significant adverse consequences of the proposal.
 Loss of argricultural / meadow land.
 Not infill.
 Intensification of vehicular movements along a public footpath.
 “The Strip” already has a second house attached to it and another is unecessary
 Surrounding area belongs to the National Trust and is kept in a natural state.
Development of this site will affect this character making it more like a housing
estate.
 Unsustainable development on a greenfield site.
 Piecemeal development that is unsustainable and has no public interest.
 Construction period should be very sensitively handled to avoid damage to the
tracks over the Green and inconvenience to the other residents. Turning space
should be provided within the site for construction lorries.

3.12

d) Comments of support from neighbours / local residents:
 Will not detrimentally affect the overall ambience of the area.

Page 43

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P98/S0410 - Approved (12/08/1998)
Demolition of some redundant, derelict buildings. Erection of wooden shed for storage
of vehicles and equipment used to maintain the land.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.2

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSEN1 - Landscape protection
CSEN3 - Historic environment
CSQ3 - Design

5.3

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C4 - Landscape setting of settlements
C9 - Loss of landscape features
CON7 - Proposals in a conservation area
D1 - Principles of good design
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10 - Waste Management
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
H13 - Extension to dwelling
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4

South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
Part 2, section 3 - Parking
Part 2, section 7 - Buildings and plots

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues to be considered are:
1. The acceptability of the principle of the development
2. The impact on the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
3. The impact on Shepherd’s Green Conservation Area
4. Whether the development would result in wider environmental, economic or
social benefits
5. The impact on neighbouring properties
6. Other matters

6.2

The acceptability of the principle of the development
The relevant policies for assessing the acceptability of the principle of the proposed
development are SOCS Policy CSR1 and SOLP Policy H4.

6.3

In the context of Policy CSR1, Shepherd’s Green is designated in the Core Strategy as
an “other village” where infill development is permitted on sites of up to 0.1 hectare
(equivalent to 2-3 houses). Infill is defined as the filling of a small gap in an otherwise
built-up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely
surrounded by buildings.

Page 44

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

6.4

The application form states that the site is 0.34 hectares. Officers’ measurements
indicate that the site is closer to 0.39 hectares in size. Whichever measurement is
used, the site is clearly in excess of the 0.1 hectares outlined by the policy. Officers
contend that the site is too large to be considered a small gap in an otherwise built up
frontage and that it is not closely surrounded by buildings. The dwelling “The Strip” is
approximately 146 metres from the next building along the frontage of the lane which is
the garage to Lane End House and is approximately 177 metres from Lane End House
itself. The two garages and derelict shed on the site would not closely surround the
proposed dwelling. The proposed development and site characteristics do not meet the
criteria to be considered as infill.

6.5

The example provided by Councillor Nimmo-Smith in which planning permission was
granted for a new dwelling at “Shepherds”, differed to the current application in a
number of ways. It related to a site that was on the edge of the main core of the village.
That site contained a collection of ancillary buildings, including a garage and stables,
which were associated with the residential property Shepherds and much of the site
was hard surfaced. That site had a much smaller site area of 0.1 hectares, was
considered to be within the built up frontage because it was close to (within 15 metres)
of existing residential properties, and the development involved the demolition of four
existing outbuildings. That proposal was therefore considered by officers to meet the
criteria for infill / redevelopment and the site was very different in character to that of the
current planning application on land adjacent to The Strip.

6.6

Policy H4 allows for new housing on sites within villages provided that:
(i) an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not
lost, nor an important public view spoilt;
(ii) the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in
keeping with its surroundings;
(iii) the character of the area is not adversely affected;
(iv) there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
(v) if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the
settlement.

6.7

Officers consider that, although the site is partly enclosed by mature trees, it is an
important open gap within Shepherd’s Green because it is an area of undeveloped land
that separates the distinct core of the village around the green from the few properties
that lie to the east. The site also contributes an important view – from points along the
public footpaths that run adjacent to the site – of agricultural land with woodland
beyond. The erection of a dwelling on the site would result in the loss of an important
gap and public view and would harm the open character of the site contrary to SOLP
Policy H4.

6.8

The Council’s lack of deliverable five-year housing land supply means that policies for
the supply of housing such as SOCS Policy CSR1 and SOLP Policy H4 are considered
out-of-date and should be given less weight. However, where relevant policies are outof-date, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at paragraph 14 that
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, or if specific other policies in the
NPPF indicate development should be restricted. The footnote relating to specific other
policies in the NPPF states: for example, those policies relating to sites designated as
an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and designated heritage assets i.e.,
conservation areas.

Page 45

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

6.9

The impact on the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
The lack of a deliverable five-year supply of housing land is only one factor to be
balanced against the “great weight” that the NPPF states should be given to the
conservation of the landscape and scenic beauty of AONBs “which have the highest
status of protection”. SOCS Policy CSEN1 (Landscape) and the SOLP 2011 Policy C4
(the landscape setting of settlements) therefore continue to have full weight.

6.10 The proposed development site is a large area of open land that, in officers’ opinion, is
a significant gap which contributes to the character of the piecemeal development of
the area and the landscape, scenic character and openness of this part of the Chilterns
AONB.
6.11 The impact on the site and the Conservation Area
Under the NPPF, conservation areas are designated heritage assets and their
conservation is to be given great weight in planning decisions.
6.12 There is no up-to-date conservation area appraisal for Shepherd’s Green. However, in
line with Historic England’s Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and
Management: Historic England Advice Note 1 (2016) and with paragraph 129 of the
NPPF, the significance of the designated conservation area and other assets has been
assessed and the potential impact of the application scheme on the heritage assets has
been duly considered.
6.13 The special interest of the Shepherd’s Green conservation area is its well preserved
character of housing fronting the road and surrounding the green that forms the main
focal point of the settlement. Moving through the conservation area the pattern of
development becomes more and more sparse with very little development beyond the
green to the north-east and the land notably giving way to open countryside and
contributing to the rural and secluded character of the settlement. The application site
is beyond the green along the lane leading to the last three dwellings at the termination
of the settlement. The site is largely open with the exception of two garage buildings,
the ancillary nature of which do not detract from the site’s open appearance.
6.14 The application site feels very much a part of the rural open landscape that surrounds
the designated conservation area and is notably included within it (see map attached
at Appendix 3), suggesting the open space here is an important contributor to the
area’s historic interest as a rural settlement with a number of open spaces and green
areas adding to its rural quality.
6.15 SOLP Policy CON7 states that planning permission will not be granted for development
which would harm the character or appearance of a conservation area and that the
contribution made to a conservation area by existing open spaces and important views
will be taken into account.
6.16 Development of the site would be isolated from the main nucleus of the conservation
area, falling outside of the main built up area. The Conservation Officer considers there
would be some harm to the special interest of the conservation area as a result of
development here. The proposal would compromise the character and appearance of
the designated asset as a result of development that does not conform to the
established pattern, sits outside of the main nucleus of built development and would
diminish the contribution that the open character of the site adds to the rural character
of Shepherd’s Green.

Page 46

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

6.17 Overall, the conservation officer considers that there would be harm to the conservation
area as a result of this proposal. In line with NPPF and accompanying NPPG, the
Conservation Officer considers that this harm would be less than substantial in the
context of paragraph 134 of the NPPF. However, less than substantial harm is not a
less than substantial objection and officers and members of the Planning Committee
must be satisfied that the benefits of delivering just one new dwelling on the site would
outweigh the harm to the special interest of Shepherd’s Green, the character and
appearance of which should be preserved or enhanced by development as outlined in
the enabling Planning Act and the NPPF.
6.18 Whether there are wider environmental, economic or social benefits that would result
from the proposed development
Shepherd’s Green has very limited existing facilities and therefore the site is considered
to have very limited sustainability. Officers are of the opinion that the proposal, which
would deliver just one large dwelling, would not deliver economic or social benefits for
the wider community. Any benefit that it would provide would not significantly and
demonstrably outweigh or justify the environmental harm to the AONB or the
conservation area. The proposed development should therefore be strongly resisted.
6.19 Impact on neighbours
The proposed dwelling would be sited a significant distance from other residential
properties and would not therefore harm the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring
dwelling by way of loss of light, by being overbearing or loss of privacy.
6.20 Other matters
The impact on trees
The trees within the site are protected because the site is within the Conservation Area.
Amended plans re-locating the dwelling and associated external landscaping works
were submitted in response to the Forestry Officer’s objection to the initial siting of the
proposed dwelling. Subject to a tree protection condition and a condition requiring the
details of the routing of services, the Forestry Officer has no objection to the proposal.
6.21 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applied to relevant
proposals since 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area,
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the
development. In this case the development is CIL liable because the proposal involves
the creation of a new dwelling. However, the applicant has submitted a self-build
exemption form.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
Officers recommend that this application is refused planning permission. In their
opinion, the principle of the proposed development is unacceptable because it does not
meet the criteria to be considered infill development. In addition, the proposed
development would fail to conserve and enhance the landscape and scenic beauty of
the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and would damage the attractive
character and landscape setting of Shepherd’s Green by undermining an important
open gap in the Shepherd’ Green Conservation Area which contributes to the visual
and historic character and appearance of the village.

Page 47

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be refused for the following reason:
The proposed development is unacceptable because it does not meet the criteria
for infill development, would fail to conserve and enhance the landscape and
scenic beauty of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and would
damage the attractive character and landscape setting of Shepherd’s Green by
undermining an important open gap in the Conservation Area which contributes
to the visual and historic character and appearance of the village, contrary to
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 policies CSR1, CSEN1 and CSEN3 and
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 saved policies H4, D1, G2, G4, C4 and CON7.

Author:
Victoria Butterworth
Contact no.: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 48

Agenda Item
8
Appendix

Page 49

1

Appendix 2

Page 50

Page 51

Page 52

- Appendix 3

Page 53

Shepherd's Green Conservation Area boundary

Shepherd's Green Conservation Area boundary

Page 54

Agenda Item 9
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
GRID REFERENCE
OFFICER

P16/S4196/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
21.12.2016
TOOT BALDON
Sue Lawson
The Provost & Scholars of the Queens College
The Poultry Building, Parsonage Farm, The Green,
Marsh Baldon, OX44 9LH
Demolition of the redundant 'B Use Class' poultry
building and the erection of one 1.5 storey
residential dwelling with associated access and
garden amenity.
None
456612/199552
Paul Bowers

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is referred to planning committee because the views of the Baldons
Parish Council differ from the officer’s recommendation.

1.2

The site is located to the east of The Green and contains a single storey building in B1
use which is adjacent to farm buildings to the north and screened to an extent by
existing trees and hedging along its western boundary.

1.3

A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1 to this report.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The application seeks full planning permission from the council to demolish the existing
single storey building and replace it with a two storey detached dwelling with associated
parking and amenity space.

2.2

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application can be found at Appendix
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
The Baldons Parish Council – Recommend the application for refusal for the following
reasons;
- Prematurity in relation to the neiighbourhood plan.
- The site is one being considered for development in the neighbourhood plan for
potentially more units than proposed and the approval of this devlopment may
prejudice this coming forward.
Neighbour Responses – 1 x letter of support.
Countryside Access - No objection providing that the public right of way is not
obstructed.
County Archaeological Services - No objection.
SGN Plant Protection Team - No objection.

Page 55

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

Countryside Officer - No objection subject to a condition that requires the
development to be carried out in accordance with the details set out in the ecological
assessment.
OCC Highways Officer - No objection subject to condition.
Contminated Land Officer – No objection subject to conditions.
4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P95/W0124/LD - Approved (01/05/1998)
Vehicle storage.
P94/W0707 - Approved (04/07/1996)
Change of use from storage of vehicles and office to storage of books and display
materials with ancillary office and workshop. (As amended by plans accompanying
letter dated 10 May 1995 by plans received on 21 July 1995 and by plans
accompanying letter dated 12 April 1996 all received from the applicant).
(Retrospective).

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 policies
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN2 - Green Belt protection
CSEN3 - Historic environment
CSQ3 - Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
CON7 - Proposals in a conservation area
D1 - Principles of good design
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
E6 - Loss of employment uses
EP8 - Contaminated land
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
GB4 - Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4 - Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016
Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Page 56

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The Baldons Parish Council is moving forward with a neighbourhood plan. However
they are the plan preparation stage and working on the Strategic Environmental
Assessment.
6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The issues to consider in relation to this proposal are;












The principle of development.
Impact on the Green Belt.
Whether the proposal accords with the criteria of Policy H4.
Plot coverage and garden size.
Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties.
Impact on highway safety.
Impact on setting of the conservation area.
Impact on ecology.
Contamination.
Community Infrastructure Levy.
Other issues.

The principle of development.
6.2

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the
application, and to any other material considerations.

6.3

In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012
and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP).

6.4

Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.5

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF advises that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
For decision-taking this means “approving development proposals that accord with the
development plan without delay; and where the development plan is absent, silent or
relevant policies are out-of-date, granting permission unless: – any adverse impacts of
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or – specific policies
in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.”

6.6

Currently the council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply and the
presumption in favour of sustainable development, set out in Paragraph 14 of the
NPPF, applies. This means that our core strategy housing policies, including SOCS
Policy CSR1 relating to housing in villages, are out of date and are given less weight in
our decision making.

6.7

However this is providing that the development does not conflict with other policies

Page 57

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

within the NPPF that seek to restrict development – such as section 9 of the NPPF that
seeks to protect Green Belt land. The impact on the Green Belt is considered
acceptable and the detailed assessment of this can be found at paragraphs 6.13 to
6.17 of this report. The conclusion therefore is that this development is considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.
6.8

The first consideration is the loss of the existing building as an employment generating
site and whether the development complies with Policy E6 of SOLP which seeks to
retain employment sites. The main relevant criteria of Policy E6 is that the existing use
is no longer economically viable and that the site has been marketed at a reasonable
price for at least a year for that and any other suitable employment or service trade use.

6.9

The application details include a structural report that has concluded that the existing
building in its current state, which is extensively overgrown, is unsafe and no longer
serviceable; the report recommends that the building should be dismantled. Given the
state of the building, which is obvious from a visual inspection, I have no reason to
question the conclusion of this report.

6.10 Marketing of the building in its current state would not likely generate any significant
interest and bringing the building back to a state which would prove attractive for
potential employers to locate their business here would be extremely costly. In my view,
the state of the building justifies a departure from Policy E6 and the loss of the
employment use here whilst regrettable is not something the council can resist to the
point that planning permission should be refused on that basis alone.
6.11 The next part of the assessment in terms of replacing the existing building with a
dwelling is whether the site is within the settlement. The site is adjacent to the Marsh
Baldon Green with dwellings immediately to the west and to the south and farm
buildings extending north and to the north east. In my view this site is on the edge of
the settlement but it is clearly within the settlement.
6.12 There are buildings to the north, to the west and to the south and in my view the
erection of a dwelling here would fall within the definition of infill in terms of being
closely surrounded by buildings. In addition this is a proposal which involves the
redevelopment of an existing building within a settlement.
6.13 Overall weighing the above factors into the planning balance I conclude that the
principle of a dwelling here is acceptable.
Impact on the Green Belt.
6.14 The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
permanently open. This is set out in Section 9 of the advice from Central Government in
the National Planning Policy Framework.
The five purposes of the green belt are;
-

to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

6.15 The NPPF advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction of new

Page 58

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for the following
purposes;
•
•
•
•
•
•

Agriculture and forestry.
Appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries
and other uses of land which preserve the openness of the green belt and don’t
conflict with the purposes of including land in it.
The extension alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building.
The replacement of a building where it is in the same use as the existing and is
not materially larger.
Limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community
needs under policies set out in the Local Plan or;
Limited infilling or partial or complete redevelopment of previously
developed sites (brownfield land) whether redundant or in continuing use
(excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact
on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land
within it than the existing development.

6.16 The last bullet point of the list of exceptions to new building in the Green Belt applies to
this development. As discussed above I considered this development to fall within the
definition of infill. In addition the proposal also involves the redevelopment of a
previously developed site. The key issue is also whether the new building has a greater
impact on openness than the existing building.
The existing building has a significant foot print. The proposed replacement building is
significantly smaller in terms of footprint. It is however taller in that it is two storeys in
height as opposed to the existing single storey building. However I conclude that the
harm that would be caused by erecting a taller building is outweighed by the benefit of
removing such a large area of built form across the wider site.
6.17 I do however consider it necessary to remove permitted development rights for the
erection of outbuildings in the future which could lead to up to 50% of the newly created
garden area being covered by incidental outbuildings thereby undoing the benefit this
application brings.
6.18 Overall I conclude that, with this condition and when considering the benefits of losing
such a large building, the wider impact on openness of the Green Belt is not harmed.
Whether the proposal accords with the criteria of Policy H4.
6.19 If a proposed housing development is acceptable in principle then the detail of the
proposal must be assessed against the criteria of Policy H4 which deals with new
housing.
Provision (i) of Policy H4 states ‘an important open space of public, environmental
or ecological value is not lost, nor an important view spoilt.’ Provision (ii) states
‘the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in
keeping with its surroundings.’ whilst Provision (iii) states that the ‘character of the
area in not adversely affected.’
6.20 The existing site comprises a building which has a low pitched, corrugated roof with
timber clad walls. It does not comprise an important public open space and its
demolition and replacement with a two storey house will not result in the loss of any
important views. In terms of any ecological impact associated with the demolition of the

Page 59

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

building this is dealt with separately at paragraph 6.29 of this report.
6.21 The new building will be seen in isolation with the buildings to the north east being
distinctly different in character and size due to their use as farm buildings. In isolation
however the dwelling reflects local building styles and traditions with traditional brick
and rendered walls and a clay tile roof. In my view this building will be a significant
improvement on the existing building and although more visible it will add to the existing
mix of dwelling types and styles around The Green and make a positive contribution to
the character and appearance of the area.
6.22 Provision iv) of Policy H4 states that there should be no overriding amenity or
environmental or highway objections.
6.23 In terms of amenity this refers to both the amenity space being provided for the
occupants of the existing and new property and also the amenity of occupants of
nearby properties. These issues are also covered by other policies within SOLP such
as Policy D3 and T1 and they are considered separately as they are fundamental
issues to this proposal.
6.24 In respect of the element of provision iv) that relates to the environment there are no
environmental issues that would justify resisting the proposal
6.25 Plot coverage and garden size.
Policy D3 of SOCS seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate private
outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will be
determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of surrounding development.
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum amount of private amenity
for 3 bedroom units and above at 100 square metres.
The layout and size of the plot ensures that the development far exceeds this minimum
standard.
The inability to provide these minimum standards would be an indicator that a proposal
amounts to an overdevelopment. However this is not the case here.
6.26 Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties.
Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing.
The nearest residential dwelling is to the south west. In my view the distance between
the buildings is sufficient to mitigate any issues surrounding the increase in height of
the building above that of the existing building. There will be no issues in respect of
overlooking or loss of sunlight. Overall I conclude the neighbour impact from the
development is acceptable.
6.27 Impact on highway safety.
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.

Page 60

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

6.28 The Highway Authority have considered the development in terms of the difference in
vehicle movements associated with the existing use and that of the new single dwelling
and the amount of parking provision and concluded that the highway impact is
acceptable. A condition is however proposed that seeks to ensure that the parking
shown on the proposed plans is retained.
6.29 Impact on setting of the conservation area.
The north western part of the site, which does not include the building, is located within
the conservation area and the line of the conservation area follows the western
boundary of the remaining site.
Views of the building are possible through the existing trees and hedges and the
southern end of the building is clearly visible in views looking north coming from The
Green. The building itself does little or nothing for the setting of the conservation area.
In my view its replacement with a single, traditional, two storey dwelling will enhance
the setting of the conservation area and represents a significant improvement over the
existing situation.
6.30 Impact on ecology.
The application has been accompanied by an ecological assessment. The council’s
Ecologist has considered the information contained within the assessment and is happy
with the information and the way in which the evidence was collected. The
recommended mitigation and enhancement set out in the report is sufficient in this
instance to ensure that this application is in accordance with Policy CSB1 of the South
Oxfordshire Core Strategy and Policies C6 and C8 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan.
As such there is no objection to this application subject to a condition that requires the
development to be carried out in accordance with the details set out in the assessment.
6.31 Contamination.
The planning application site has formerly been used as agricultural land. Potentially
there are a range of contaminants that could be present on former agricultural land.
This is particularly true of areas used as farmyards which may have contained a variety
of buildings such as barns and workshops, and which could have been put to a number
of uses including vehicle maintenance, chemical storage, metal working and fuel
storage. Aside from the presence of made ground there are a number of chemicals
that could have been used and possibly leaked or been spilled particularly in farmyard
areas. Chemicals typically stored and used include agricultural pesticides, herbicides,
fungicides and fuel. Disposal of waste on or in the land may also have occurred
through fly tipping or unlicensed disposal of waste. Asbestos containing materials may
be present on or in farmyard buildings such as barns that can have cement asbestos
roofing.
6.32 The proposed residential development is regarded as a particularly sensitive use to any
land contamination. For these reasons, the developer needs to conduct adequate
contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.
To ensure that any risks from land contamination are addressed The Contaminated
Land Officer has recommend that any planning permission is subject to conditions and
an informative.
In the first instance this condition will require a contaminated land preliminary risk
assessment. The risks associated with agricultural land ‘farmyards’ can sometimes be
difficult to quantify after this initial assessment and until there has been sampling and

Page 61

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

chemical analysis of the soils contained within the development area. This will help to
determine the suitability of the site for the proposed development and whether any
measures are needed to mitigate against any risks. Investigations are typically
restricted to areas that will form garden grounds unless a specific source of potential
contamination is identified in the preliminary risk assessment that could pose a risk to
the development or the environment.
Chemical analysis of soils at the development site may be required following
completion of the initial report and it may expedite compliance with any imposed
contaminated land condition should the applicant decide to undertake this testing at the
same time as the preliminary risk assessment.
6.33 Community Infrastructure Levy.
The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted. CIL is a planning charge that
local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the
development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint
created as a result of the development.
In this case CIL is liable as the proposal involves the creation of a new dwelling.
However the floor space of the existing building can be offset against that of the new
building and therefore given that the existing building has a greater floor space than the
what is proposed the amount payable for CIL is zero.
6.34 Other issues.
Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.
The Baldons Parish Council is moving forward with a neighbourhood plan. However
they are the plan preparation stage and working on the Strategic Environmental
Assessment. At this stage in the process I cannot afford any significant weight to the
emerging plan and although the objection from the parish council is based on the
application coming before the neighbourhood plan has the potential opportunity to
identify the site for alternative development to that proposed it is my view that this does
not constitute a reason for the district council to refuse planning permission.
7.0

CONCLUSION
Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposal will
create a new dwelling in a sustainable location and accords with paragraph 14 of the
NPPF which sets out the presumption favour of sustainable development.
The new building does not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt
than the existing building and enhances the wider visual amenity of the area. It will not
have an adverse impact on the setting of the conservation area.
Overall the proposal accords with development plan polices

Page 62

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 13 February 2017

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Commencement three years – full planning permission.
Approved plans.
Materials as on plan.
Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
Wildlife protection (mitigation as approved).
Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no
outbuildings.
7. Contaminated land risk assessment to be carried out.
8. Contaminated land remediation strategy to be carried out.
Author:
Paul Bowers
E-mail :
paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 540546

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Agenda Item 9

The site

Page 65

NOTES
1. No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing.
2. Contractors must verify all figured dimensions on site before commencing any
work or making any shop drawings.
3. This drawing is the sole copyright of Savills and no part may be reproduced
without the written consent of the above.
4. Site Location Plans are prepared from the Ordnance Survey Map with the
sanction of the Controller of H.M. Stationery Office. Crown Copyright Reserved.

Appendix 2

SITE BOUNDARY
LAND ALSO IN OWNERSHIP

N

0.0M

Rev

50M

Description

By

Date

Drawing Status

PLANNING

ARCHITECTURE & BUILDING
CONSULTANCY
Savills (UK) Limited
Wytham Court, 11 West Way,
Botley, Oxford OX2 0QL
Telephone: + 44 (0)1865 269000
Fax: + 44 (0)1865 269001
www.savills.co.uk
Client

The Queens College, Oxford
Project

Page 66

Parsonage Farm
Marsh Baldon
_
Drawing Title

Site Location Plan

Scale
1:1250 @ A3
Drawing Number

16-34-01

Date
November 2016
Rev.

Drawn
RE

Checked
MS

Project Number

OXPL 367669

Appendix 2

Page 67

NOTES
1. No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing.
2. Contractors must verify all figured dimensions on site before commencing any
work or making any shop drawings.
3. This drawing is the sole copyright of Savills and no part may be reproduced
without the written consent of the above.
4. Site Location Plans are prepared from the Ordnance Survey Map with the
sanction of the Controller of H.M. Stationery Office. Crown Copyright Reserved.

Sc
ht=u rub
p to
3m

Appendix 2
77.42

Gra
ss

Lau
ht=3 rel
.5m

ss

0
77.5

77.5

Gra

Bloc
Pilla k
rs
77.45

77.48
Grass/Hardcore Track

Slab Path

77.38

76.58

77.43

77.37

76.60

Ditch

Fiel
d
Map
l
e
ht=1
3m

77.44
77.54
Post and Rail
Fence ht=1m

C
OH

76.77

Paling Fence
ht=0.9m

Ditch

77.41

77.41

Row of Conifers ht=up to 16.5m

77.53

77.58

77.46

Ditch

77.58

77.58

77.66

77.52

77.47

61
77.

Hardcore

Fiel
dM
ht=7 aple
.5m

EP
3P
Tran hase EP
sfor
mer

OHCL
=
85.88

Lau
re
ht=6 ls
m

Grass

77.51

77.61

76.47

77.40

76.40

77.31

Ditch

76.41

ACCOMMODATION SHEDULE

Tim
b
Brid er
ge

77.63

Eaves=79.78
77.33

T2

77.68
TP
ER P
ipe
ER

77.70

1
77.9

Lau
r
ht=4 el
m

77.72

Fiel
dM
ht=1 aple
1m

77.91

77.80

Slab Path

Lau
re
ht=6 ls
m

77.24

4

ss
Gra

Form
Pou
e
ltry r
She
d

3
78.0
4
77.9

dco
77.88

Hardcore

anopy

Conifer C

77.83

OHC

Elm

77.87

77.75

Br
(blo idge
ck w
alls)

EXISTING PLAN

77.82

78.0
1

78.04

77.94
Elm
ht=6
.5m

Ditch

Fiel
dM
ht=7 aples
.5m

77.43

78.12

dwa
ll

78.00

Eaves=79.81
77.82

Har

T3
77.99

Ridge=81.80

Ridge=81.87

re

78.00

Shr
ht=6 ub
.5m

Shru
b

77.91
78.07

77.95

78.0
2

78.06
Grass

.00

78

77.98

Shrubs
ht=2.5m

Barn

Apex=81.77

77.97
77.86

78.18

78.07
77.94
Grass

Paving Slabs

2

77.95

78.0

.5m
ht=5

78.04

78.11

77.19
Eaves=79.68

78.00

8

77.27

Sm
With aller Tr
ees
in H
ht=u edger
ow
p to
6m

Paving Slabs

77.93

77.39

77.86

78.01

77.9
4
77.97

77.43

77.53

77.77
Eaves=79.78

Lau
re
ht=4 l
m

77.9
8

77

.96

78.0

0

78.0

7

77.9

6

Har
dco

re

T4

dco
re

0

1

Har

0
78.

78.0

77.74

77.8
7

77.9
2
78.
01

77.98

Row of
Conifers ht=
7m

7

Hea

77.11

77.31

Row of Conifers ht=10m

78.0

0
78.

77.41

Existing main building footprint
Existing main building GIA

0.0M

= 632m2
= 597m2

5.0M

Rev

10.0M

Description

By

Date

Drawing Status

PLANNING

ARCHITECTURE & BUILDING
CONSULTANCY
Savills (UK) Limited
Wytham Court, 11 West Way,
Botley, Oxford OX2 0QL

EXISTING WESTERN
ELEVATION

Telephone: + 44 (0)1865 269000
Fax: + 44 (0)1865 269001
www.savills.co.uk
Client

The Queens College, Oxford
Project

Parsonage Farm
Marsh Baldon
_
Drawing Title

Existing Building

Page 68

Scale
1:100 @ A1
Drawing Number

16-34-11

Date
November 2016
Rev.

Drawn
RE

Checked
MS

Project Number

OXPL 367669

NOTES
1. No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing.
2. Contractors must verify all figured dimensions on site before commencing any
work or making any shop drawings.
3. This drawing is the sole copyright of Savills and no part may be reproduced
without the written consent of the above.
4. Site Location Plans are prepared from the Ordnance Survey Map with the
sanction of the Controller of H.M. Stationery Office. Crown Copyright Reserved.

Appendix 2

0.0M

5.0M

Rev

10.0M

Description

By

Date

Drawing Status

PLANNING

ARCHITECTURE & BUILDING
CONSULTANCY
Savills (UK) Limited
Wytham Court, 11 West Way,
Botley, Oxford OX2 0QL
Telephone: + 44 (0)1865 269000
Fax: + 44 (0)1865 269001
www.savills.co.uk
Client

The Queens College, Oxford
Project

Page 69

Parsonage Farm
Marsh Baldon
_
Drawing Title

Existing Western Elevation

Scale
1:100 @ A3
Drawing Number

16-34-03

Date
November 2016
Rev.

Drawn
RE

Checked
MS

Project Number

OXPL 367669

85.44
Ridge=

Lower Roo

NOTES

f=82.13

=80.03

Eaves

Appendix 2

199620N

199620N

Barn
78.39

Ridge=

EP

1. No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing.
2. Contractors must verify all figured dimensions on site before commencing any
work or making any shop drawings.
3. This drawing is the sole copyright of Savills and no part may be reproduced
without the written consent of the above.
4. Site Location Plans are prepared from the Ordnance Survey Map with the
sanction of the Controller of H.M. Stationery Office. Crown Copyright Reserved.

86.24

78.33

78.41

78.34

T5
78
.2
1

Hardcore

Concrete

.36
78

78.30

78.35

78.04

78.39

78.37

Metal Rail
Fence
ht=1.25m

78.09

Asphalt

78.39

78.28

78.36

78.11

78.33

78.34

78.30

78.31
Asphalt

78.24

78.27

Asphalt

77
.9
0

0

.0

77
.96

77.98

7

of
Row

77.92

8

1
77.9

Hardcore

78.02

78
.0

77.87

0

78.03

Hardcore

2

77.9

77.7

8
77.7

78.01

1

77.94

.44

OHCL=87

Grass

.81

77.8

2

7

Ditc

EP

77.5

3

3

Path

77.87

77
.7
2 77.7

0
77.8

ss
ra

G

77.66

5

.50

77

orn 2m
wth ht=
Ha ge
d
He
2
.6
77

77.82

77.54

77.5

Slab

h

Stay

Laurels
ht=6m

9

Har

77.7

Fruit
ht=5m

OHC

87

77.83

77.9
OHC

.76
77

ss

Fruit Trees
(ht=up to 7m)
and Overgrown Scrub

s=79
Eave
2
77.8

4

.7

.56

Gra

77

EP
EP
3 Phase
Transformer

199580N

OHC

=81.

77

.96
77

3
77.7

OHCL=
85.88

EP

OHC

Ridge

Laurel
ht=4m

7

Laurels
ht=6m

4

6
77.8

77.95
bs
g Sla
Pavin
2
77.8

77.6

ss
Gra

.81

77

.52

77.87

77.78

77

1
.9
77

77.7

Laurel
ht=4m

78.01

7
.78
77.7
s=79
Eave

orn
wth .8m
Ha ht=1
dge
He

1
77.8

8
77.8

4

.80
77

77.2

.99

77

77.94

77.98

T3

T4

77.96

s
Gras

77.7

4

.02
78

6

78.0

=10m
ers ht
Conif

77.9

bs
Shru m
ht=2.5

ire
ed W
Barb e ht=1m
Fenc

77.9

abs
ng Sl

5

Pavi

83.58
Eaves=
77.79

78.01

78.00

77.95

.11
78

7
78.0
0
78.0

h
Ditc

78.4

8

3

1

Grass

78.08

77.93

.0

78

8

78.07

Barn

77.4

8

77.6

.8
77

5

3
78.0

ad

ss

of Ro

Gra

.6

T3A

77.65

Hardcore

78.00

Elm
ht=6.5m

of
Row
7m
ers ht=
Conif

77.97

4

77.9

4

0

Edge

78.0

77

Elm

77.89

77.80

199580N

6

77.8

77
=81.
Apex

Field Maples
ht=7.5m

77.80

78.00

Shrub
ht=6.5m

7

78.0

Fruit Trees
(ht=up to 7m)
and Overgrown Scrub

77.87

77.81

Block Wall
ht=0.5m
(Well)

Overgrown
Scrub
ht=up to 3m

199600N

85.12

Ridge=

4
78.0

Shrub

78.0

2

78.1

Block
Headwall

78.00

78.1

ss
Gra
3
.3
78

Shed

0

Barn

77.98

78.01

.19
78

5

78.10

T6

TS

8

77.9

.0
78

Hawthorn
ht=7m

Shrub

Shrub
ht=5m

78.2

77.74

Asphalt

77.90

1
78.6

1
78.8

8
78.6

Ash
ht=9m

il
Ra
d 1m
0
.3 an t=
78 ost ce h
P en
F

78

3
78.1
n
thor
Haw =1.8m
ge ht
Hed
2
78.7

0

.02

Hawthorn
ht=5.5m

78.07

G
78.0

77.99

MH
CL77.87

78.35

il
Ra
d 1m
an t=
st e h
Po enc
F

rass

Overgrown
Scrub
ht=up to 3m

Elm
ht=4m

78.26
.22
78

OHC

5
78.2

0
78.1

78.33

ce ht=1.1m

78.25

Hardcore

78
.0
0

Rail Fen

78.16

1

78.1

78.00

Post and
78.29

Grass

78.00

199600N

2

78

78.2

78.39

Grass

78.23
78.20

78.09

78.32
83.62
Eaves=

Concrete

78.01

e

dcor

77.7

77.50

5

2
.4
77

77.4
Grass

77.5

2

77.5

8

77.39

77.7

77.3

199560N

e
dcor
Har

8
77.58

77.36

Field Maple
ht=7.5m

77.53

9

77.3

Field
77.4

Grass

1

1

9

77.4

3
77.6

.6

Bridge
(block walls)

8
77.6
TP
ER Pipe
ER

77

OHC

.42

77

4
77.5
Rail
4
77.4 st and =1m
Po e ht
Fenc

8

4
77.4

77.57

d

a
Ro

76.5

of

0
77.7

77.53

Laurels
ht=7m

Former
Poultry Shed

Path

ge

Ed

Field Maple
ht=11m

199560N

Laurel
ht=3.5m

Slab

h
Ditc

.48
77

.55

77.39

77

nce
g Fe
Palin .9m
ht=0

Grass

ire
ed W
Barb e ht=1m
Fenc
2
77.4

7

8

76.7

77.7
0

3

6
77.4

77.65

.49

77

.65

77
Fruit
ht=4.5m

O

DEMOLITION AREA

HC

7

Ditc

77.4

0

76.6

77.43

77.47

Grass

1

ss/H
77.5
1

199540N
1

0.0M

80
=81.

0
1

.78
s=79 3
Eave
77.3

77.4

Block
Pillars

Rev

77.4

1
77.3

76.99

1
77
.40

3

77.1

76.41
77.01

Timber
Bridge

ire
ed W
Barb e ht=1m
Fenc
1

77.1

Ditch

7
77.1
8
77.0

Grass

77

77.42

77.43

Date

PLANNING

77.0

5

7

6

77.1
5

9

77.24

h

77.3

Ditc

9

9

76.9

77.0

Hawthorn
ht=6.5m

76.95

76.9
3

199520N

77.2

.00

ARCHITECTURE & BUILDING
CONSULTANCY
Savills (UK) Limited

77.0

7

77.0
0

76.9

Elm
ht=7m

5

9

OHC

1

77.17

2

Grass

76.98

0

of
Edge

76.9

77.06

Overgrown
Scrub

0

9

77.1

3
9.5

77.0

9

76.7

76.9

77.02

3.41

0.58

ge=8

Rid

es=8

9
76.9

77

2

76.2

0

Eav

77.0

Hawthorn

80.1

7
ves=

By

.00
77

76.3

77.0

77.17

199520N

Ea

Description

.33

77.16

oof=

20.0M

Drawing Status

77.21

er R

10.0M

5
77.4

8

77.4

T2

Smaller Trees
Within Hedgerow
ht=up to 6m

Grass

Low

5.0M

Ridge

0

76.4

77.4

2
77.2

8
77.2
6
77.1

EP

Willowbrook

N

77.1

9
77.1 8
.6
s=79
Eave

k

.5m

Trac

to 16

ore

=up

ardc

2
77.5

rs ht

6
MH
CL77.20

77.3

Gra

7

onife

76.4

4
77.3

2

77.2

77.4

of C

py

Row

Field
Maple
ht=13m

ano

rC
nife
Co

7
77.3

TP

7

1
77.6

Grass

199540N

77.2

h

6

77.3

77.5
0

OHC

Road

0

1

76.9

0

77.0

.20

Brambles
ht=2.5m

5

77

5

4

0
77.2

77.0

77.0

5
76.1

76.9

76.75

76.96

T1A

Wytham Court, 11 West Way,
Botley, Oxford OX2 0QL

77.07

T1

77.06

77.0

h
Ditc

76.8

Ash
ht=7m

77.00

9

Client

77.12

76.93

77.02

77.00

77.06

5
76.1

4
76.8
9
76.6

Overgrown
Scrub
77.09

8
76.6

Grass

77

76.90

.09

.0

9

4

.1

76.88

77

199500N
Project

6

76

76.6

77

The Queens College, Oxford

ire
ed W
Barb e ht=1m
Fenc

Elm
ht=7m

9

76.9

Elm
ht=10m
Elm

Grass

199500N

Telephone: + 44 (0)1865 269000
Fax: + 44 (0)1865 269001
www.savills.co.uk

76.89
Hawthorn
ht=6m

5
.8

77.15
75.60

Ditc

77.18

.07

2

77.1

3

Page 70

Elm
ht=8.5m
Hawthorn
75.92
0
Elm ht=9m
.0
77
76.87
ht=6.5m

77.0

h

76
.8

77

.1
76

5

.6

76

Hawthorn
ht=5m

1

77.15

76.1

0

76.8

1

Smaller Trees and Bushes
Within Hedgerow
ht=up to 5.5m

Field Maple
ht=9m

7

Parsonage Farm
Marsh Baldon
_

77.14

Ditc
h

Ditch

75.78

76.03
76.6

2

77.0

77.10

8

76.66

76.76

76.68

Grass

76.66

Drawing Title

Demolition Plan

75.99

76.73

Field Maple
ht=13m

Edge of Road

76.71

Scale
1:500 @ A3
Drawing Number

16-34-04

Date
November 2016
Rev.

Drawn
RE

Checked
MS

Project Number

OXPL 367669

NOTES
1. No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing.
2. Contractors must verify all figured dimensions on site before commencing any
work or making any shop drawings.
3. This drawing is the sole copyright of Savills and no part may be reproduced
without the written consent of the above.
4. Site Location Plans are prepared from the Ordnance Survey Map with the
sanction of the Controller of H.M. Stationery Office. Crown Copyright Reserved.

Appendix 2

Bed 1

Living Room

Linen
Bed 3
En-Suite

En-Suite

Linen

6500

Dining

Dressing

Utility

Bed 4

Kitchen

Bathroom

Boots
Study

Hall

Bed 2

0.0M

5.0M

N

WC

Rev

6500

Description

By

Date

Drawing Status

PLANNING
GROUND FLOOR PLAN

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

ACCOMMODATION SHEDULE
4 Bedroom Dwelling Area
Volume
Car Spaces

= 234m2 / 2518sq ft
= 900m3
for 2no. vehicles (+1no. farm visitor space)

Existing Volume
Decrease

= 1950m3
= 116%

ARCHITECTURE & BUILDING
CONSULTANCY
Savills (UK) Limited
Wytham Court, 11 West Way,
Botley, Oxford OX2 0QL
Telephone: + 44 (0)1865 269000
Fax: + 44 (0)1865 269001
www.savills.co.uk
Client

Page 71

*GIA measured to 1600mm headroom

The Queens College, Oxford
Project

Parsonage Farm
Marsh Baldon
_
Drawing Title

Proposed Floor Plans

Scale
1:100 @ A3
Drawing Number

16-34-06

Date
November 2016
Rev.

Drawn
RE

Checked
MS

Project Number

OXPL 367669

Page 72

Appendix 2

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
GRID REFERENCE
OFFICER

P16/S4108/HH
HOUSEHOLDER
13.12.2016
DIDCOT
Tony Harbour
Steve Connel
Bill Service
Mr & Mrs I Lokhon
56 Roding Way, Didcot, OX11 7RQ
Proposed ground and first floor side extension
None
453319/190823
Roseanne Lillywhite

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the applicant
is a South Oxfordshire District Council elected Local Member.

1.2

56 Roding Way, which is shown on the OS extract attached at Appendix 1, is a two
storey semi-detached property, which is located within the Ladygrove Estate to the
north east of Didcot.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal is to erect a two storey extension to the side (south) of the current
property.

2.2

The plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2. Full copies of the
supporting documentation and consultation responses are available for inspection on
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Didcot Town Council - No strong views

4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
None

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies;
CSQ3 - Design

5.2

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
D1 - Principles of good design
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
H13 - Extension to dwelling
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.3

National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

Page 75

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues in the consideration of this application are;
 Scale and Design: the impact upon the character of the dwelling and
the overall street scene
 The impact upon the amenities of occupants of neighbouring dwellings
 Parking provision

6.2

Scale and Design: the impact upon the character of the dwelling and the overall
street scene
In my opinion, the proposal is a subservient addition to the property and would not
harm the overall character of the dwelling. The side extension would be set 0.6 metres
down from the man ridge line and is set back 1.6 metres from the front of the property.
It will have visual subservience from the street scene, and due to its location within
Roding Way, it would not have a harmful impact upon the overall street scene.

6.3

The impact upon the amenities of occupants of neighbouring dwellings
Due to the application property’s location within Roding Way, there are no neighbouring
properties adjacent to the proposal, which is located to the south of the property. The
adjoining property is located to the north and therefore would not be affected by the
proposal. Therefore, the proposal would not have a harmful impact upon the
neighbouring amenities, in terms of loss of light, privacy or outlook. It is also noted that
no neighbour objections have been received.

6.4

Parking provision
As the proposal will increase the number of bedrooms from 2 to 3 and the car parking
space to the side of the property will be lost, adequate parking provision will need to be
provided. The council’s parking standards as set out in Appendix 1 of the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP), states that for a 2 /3 bedroom property, the maximum
off-street parking spaces is the same at 2 spaces. A site visit confirmed that the front
garden area could be converted to accommodate a car and there is also parking to the
south of the property on a gravelled area. I therefore, consider that the parking
provision is adequate to accommodate the proposal.

7.0

CONCLUSION
It is recommended that planning permission is granted because the proposal does not
adversely affect the character and appearance of the property or the overall street
scene. The proposal does not compromise the residential amenity of neighbouring
occupants in terms of outlook, privacy, overshadowing or loss of light. In conjunction
with the attached conditions the proposal will accord with development plan policies.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:
1 : Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2 : Approved plans.
3 : Matching materials (walls and roof).

Author:
Roseanne Lillywhite
Contact no: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 76

Appendix 1

Agenda Item 10

The site

Page 77

Site boundary

Rear garden

Proposed extension

N

D
ROD
ING W

RODDING

WAY

BLOCK PLAN
SCALE 1:500
AY

LOCATION PLAN
SCALE 1:1250
E: INFO@FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

Profile of existing dwelling
PROJECT
PROPOSED GROUND & FIRST FLOOR SIDE
EXTENSION & INTERNAL ALTERATIONS

DATE
9.12.2016

RODDING WAY

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD,
OXON OX10 7AH

WAY

DESCRIPTION
BLOCK PLAN
LOCATION PLAN

RODDING

WWW.FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

ISSUE
PLANNING
V.1

DRG NO.
1018.G.4

N
DRAWN BY
SS

CLIENT
MR & MRS I LOKHON
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

ER
WAT
E
S
L
HA

T: 01865 709294

SITE
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

WRITTEEEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED
DIMENSIONS

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES
MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

Appendix 2

Existing off street parking area

Page 78

Existing external walls

Existing staircase

Existing door openings

KITCHEN

EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN
E

BATH
L

C

BEDROOM

Existing brickwork wall

01

E

EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN
EXISTING ROOF PLAN

E: INFO@FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

03
PROJECT
PROPOSED GROUND & FIRST FLOOR SIDE
EXTENSION & INTERNAL ALTERATIONS

DATE
9.12.2016

ISSUE
PLANNING
V.1

DRG NO.
1018.G.1

EXISTING FRONT ELEVATION E03

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD,
OXON OX10 7AH

BEDROOM
DESCRIPTION
EXISTING FLOOR PLANS
EXISTING ROOF PLAN
EXISTING ELEVATIONS

E

02
Existing internal partitions

EXISTING SIDE ELEVATION E02

WWW.FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

00

EXISTING REAR ELEVATION E01

T: 01865 709294

1:50 @ A1

1.0m

DRAWN BY
SS

2.0m

CLIENT
MR & MRS I LOKHON
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

4.0m

SITE
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

1:100 @ A1

00

2.0m

8.0m

WRITTEEEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED
DIMENSIONS

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES
MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

4.0m

Appendix 2

Existing window openings

LOUNGE

Page 79

E

02

WC

Existing external wall demolished

New kitchen layout

E

PROJECT
PROPOSED GROUND & FIRST FLOOR SIDE
EXTENSION & INTERNAL ALTERATIONS

03

BEDROOM

BATH

New wc window
Existing bathroom window blocked up

UTILITY
C

BEDROOM

Form new opening

LANDING

KITCHEN
BEDROOM

New window opening

New bi-folding doors in existing enlarged opening

A

01

E

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN

New partition separating bedroom
E: INFO@FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

Site boundary
DESCRIPTION
PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS
PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

LOUNGE

01

A

01

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

DATE
9.12.2016

ISSUE
PLANNING
V.1

00

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION E03

Existing bathroom fitted with Velux sun tunnel
HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD,
OXON OX10 7AH

STUDY

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION E02

WWW.FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION E01

T: 01865 709294

1:50 @ A1

DRG NO.
1018.G.2

1.0m

DRAWN BY
SS

2.0m

CLIENT
MR & MRS I LOKHON
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

4.0m

SITE
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

1:100 @ A1

00

2.0m

8.0m

WRITTEEEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED
DIMENSIONS

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES
MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

4.0m

Appendix 2

New window opening

ENSUITE

Page 80

PROPOSED SECTION A01
PROPOSED ROOF PLAN
E: INFO@FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

UTILITY

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD,
OXON OX10 7AH

DESCRIPTION
PROPOSED ROOF PLAN
SECTION

STUDY
PROJECT
PROPOSED GROUND & FIRST FLOOR SIDE
EXTENSION & INTERNAL ALTERATIONS

BEDROOM

WWW.FUTURE-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK

ENSUITE

T: 01865 709294

DATE
9.12.2016

ISSUE
PLANNING
V.1

DRG NO.
1018.G.3

DRAWN BY
SS

CLIENT
MR & MRS I LOKHON
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

00

SITE
56 RODDING WAY
DIDCOT
OXON
OX11 7RQ

1:50 @ A1

1.0m

4.0m

WRITTEEEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED
DIMENSIONS

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES
MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

2.0m

Appendix 2

KITCHEN

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL for P16/S3997

PROPOSAL for
P16/S3998/LB

AMENDMENTS
GRID REFERENCE
OFFICER

P16/S3997/FUL and P16/S3998/LB
FULL APPLICATION and LISTED BUILDING
CONSENT
7.12.2016
CUDDESDON
Elizabeth Gillespie
Madgalen College
Dove House Farm, Cuddesdon, OX44 9HG
Conversion of traditional buildings into office
accommodation and three residential conversions,
and five new build residential units (as amended by
revised Design & Access Statement received 23
April 2010 and drawings and information
accompanying letter from Agent dated 3 January
2013, as amended by plans accompanying letter
from agent dated 4 March 2013 and as clarified by
additional transport report from ace dated June
2013). Variation of conditions 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11,
12, 13, 14, 15, 16 of P10W0093 to allow
construction of the site access before agreement of
pre commencement conditions. And the removal of
condition 19.
Conversion of traditional buildings into office
accommodation and three residential conversions,
and five new build residential units (as amended by
revised Design & Access Statement received 23
April 2010 and drawings and information
accompanying letter from Agent dated 3 January
2013, as amended by plans accompanying letter
from agent dated 4 March 2013 and as clarified by
additional transport report from ace dated June
2013). Variation of conditions 4,5,6 of P10W0094/LB
to allow construction of the site access before
agreement of pre commencement conditions.
None
460165/203053
Sharon Crawford

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The applications have been referred to the Planning Committee because the
recommendation to grant planning permission and listed building consent conflicts with
the views of the Cuddesdon Parish Council. The Parish council object to the
applications for the reasons set out in paragraph 3.1 of this report.

1.2

Dovehouse Farm lies on the edge of the village of Cuddesdon on a hillside. It is a
farmyard with some modern and some old buildings. One of the barns is a grade II
listed building and the site is adjacent to All Saints Church; also listed as are a
number of headstones within the grave yard. The Green Belt washes over the whole
of Cuddesdon.

Page 83

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

1.3

The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal involves two applications under Section 73 of the Town and Country
Planning Act for the:




Variation of conditions 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 of P10W0093 to
allow construction of the site access before agreement of pre commencement
conditions.
The removal of condition 19 (Code for Sustainable Homes) of P10/W0093.
Variation of conditions 4, 5, 6 of P10W0094/LB to allow construction of the site
access before agreement of pre commencement conditions.

2.2

Reduced copies of the plans and documents accompanying the application are
attached at Appendix 2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are
available for inspection on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

2.3

A legal agreement has been signed in relation to the original application to secure
affordable housing and contributions to the county council for infrastructure
improvements. The legal agreement also includes enabling development to secure the
stabilisation and repair of the listed tithe barn.

3.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1

Cuddesdon
Parish Council

The applicant wishes to construct the site access before satisfying the
pre-conditions for commencement of work in order to circumvent the
requirement stipulated in the granting of the previous application
(P10W0093) that the development must be begun before the 6 June
2017. The applicant is doing this to minimise expenditure while
satisfying the requirement to start work within three years of the
granting of the previous application. In other words, he is doing is
simply for financial gain. The development proper could then be
started at any time in the future, with no time limit.
The conditions imposed at the granting to the previous application
were defined by policies of the SOCS and the SOLP. It would be
wholly inappropriate for these requirements to be ignored before the
development commences.

3.2

OCC
(Highways)

Comments to be updated verbally.

3.3

OCC
Archaeology

The area concerned lies within an area of some archaeological
interest related to the medieval development of the settlement. The
site contains a listed C16th Barn, restored in the C19th (PRN 5446)
and the remains of a medieval Timbered Hall (PRN 5445) on the first
floor and roof with stone ground floor walls. The area of the application
is likely to have had more medieval and early post medieval
settlement within it and although the site has seen a fairly large
amount of modern disturbance it is likely that archaeological deposits
related to these periods could survive within the site.
We therefore recommended conditions on application P10/W0093 (11
and 12) to ensure that a programme of archaeological investigation is
Page 84

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

undertaken ahead of any development on the site. The proposed
access route will also need to be subject to an archaeological
investigation and we would therefore not recommend that these
conditions are amended to remove the access route.
The programme of archaeological investigation required by these
conditions can be undertaken as a series of stages and if the applicant
only wishes to construct the access route at this stage then an
archaeological watching brief can be undertaken on this section of the
proposal only. This would not require any variations to the original
conditions and a partial discharge of condition 11 can be agreed
following the submission of an appropriate written scheme of
investigation.

4.0
4.1

Countryside
Officer

This proposal does not include alterations to the scheme itself and is
simply to enable works to the access to commence. I have no heritage
objections.

Forestry

No objection.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P16/S3248/PEM – Response (21/11/2016)
Conversion of the tithe barn, three residential conversions and five new build residential
units
P10/W0094/LB - Approved (06/06/2014)
Conversion of traditional buildings into office accommodation and three residential
conversions (as amended by revised Design & Access Statement received 23 April
2010 and drawings and information accompanying letter from Agent dated 3 January
2013 & as amended by plans acc letter from agent dated 4 March 2013 & as clarified
by additional transport report from ace dated June 2013).
P10/W0093 - Approved (06/06/2014)
Conversion of traditional buildings into office accommodation and three residential
conversions, and five new build residential units(as amended by revised Design &
Access Statement received 23 April 2010 and drawings and information accompanying
letter from Agent dated 3 January 2013, as amended by plans accompanying letter
from agent dated 4 March 2013 and as clarified by additional transport report from ace
dated June 2013).
P05/W1233/LB - Withdrawn (24/03/2010)
Alterations necessary for the conversion of traditional buildings.
P05/W1228 - Withdrawn (24/03/2010)
Conversion of traditional barns to office accommodation, three residential units and
three new build residential units.
P04/W1184 - Withdrawn (14/12/2004)
Conversion of traditional barns to office accommodation and three residential units, and
three new residential units.
P04/W1183/LB - Withdrawn (13/12/2004)
Alterations necessary for the conversion of traditional barns to office accommodation
and three residential units, and three new residential units.

Page 85

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies
CSEN2 - Green Belt protection
CSEN3 - Historic environment
CSH3 - Affordable housing
CSQ2 - Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3 - Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy

5.2

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
C4 - Landscape setting of settlements
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
C9 - Loss of landscape features
CON2 - Extensions to listed buildings
CON3 - Alteration to listed building
CON5 - Setting of listed building
CON7 - Proposals in a conservation area
D1 - Principles of good design
D10 - Waste Management
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7 - Access for all
E5 - Business, industrial, warehousing and storage proposals
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
EP7 - Impact on ground water resources
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G4 - Protection of Countryside
GB4 - Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4 - Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2008

5.3

National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.4

6.0
6.1

Other Relevant Legislation
 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation Human Rights Act 1998
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998
 Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006
 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
When assessing section 73 applications the Council can only consider the original
condition(s) and the reasons for applying the condition(s); new conditions can be
attached but only in so far as they apply to the original condition. If the Council decides

Page 86

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

that planning permission should be granted subject to the same conditions as those
subject to which the previous permission was granted, they should refuse the
application.
The main issues in the case of this application are:
 Background
 Are the revisions to the conditions acceptable?
 Removal of condition 19
6.2

Background. The history of the current planning permission and listed building
consent has been complicated and this is reflected by the fact that the planning
permission and listed building consent took some four years to negotiate and bring
forward an acceptable scheme.

6.3

Since the planning permission and listed building consent were granted there has
been a change in the threshold for small scale development schemes in respect of
affordable housing and more detailed work has been carried out on the costings for
the conversion of the tithe barn.

6.4

As a result of these changes a revised planning application for the redevelopment of
the site will be submitted in the near future. The proposed development will be very
similar to the extant planning permission but a number of proposed changes make it
necessary to seek a new planning permission and listed building consent. The existing
permissions however expire on 6 June 2017 and the applicant’s agent would like to
commence the existing permission, by constructing the access, to keep the planning
permission live. A number of pre-commencement conditions prohibit the
commencement of development on the whole site until various details have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the council.

6.5

Are the revisions to the condition acceptable? The suggested changes to the
conditions on the planning permission and listed building consent would allow for
works to the access to be completed to allow the commencement to be triggered. My
recommendation suggests rewording the pre-commencement conditions to read –
“prior to the commencement of development, apart from works to construct the site
accesses….”. This means that all the details covered by the original conditions will still
have to be submitted for approval but allows for the construction of the access before
the 6 June 2017.

6.6

Planning permissions for large schemes often include conditions that allow for
development to be phased to allow for various sectors to be built out at different times
and the construction of the access would in effect amount to phase 1 of the larger
scheme. The parish council are concerned that once the works to create the access
commence this will keep the planning permission live for ever. The development
proper could then be started at any time in the future, with no time limit. There is a
limited chance that the development may not be built out for a number of years, in
which time, planning policies may change. However, the requirements of the legal
agreement and the conditions will still apply and there is no disadvantage in this
scenario in my view apart from development not coming forward as quickly as we
would like. Any policy changes involving the details of the outstanding conditions
would also need to be the subject of a further sect 73 application, at which time the
council could review such changes.

6.7

In any event it is likely that a revised application for the whole site will be submitted to
the council in the near future to re-consider the provision of affordable housing, the
use of the Grade II* listed building for offices and the S106 contributions/CIL
Page 87

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

contributions. The thresholds for affordable housing have changed and more detailed
costings have revealed that the original office conversion of the Grade II* barn may not
be viable. Any new applications will be determined on their own merits.
6.8

There are no changes to the details of the applications or planning policy since
planning permission and listed building consent were granted (other than the threshold
for affordable housing) and the original delegated report for the planning application is
attached at Appendix 3 for information. The proposals continue to be acceptable
because the overall built form on the site will be considerably reduced and the setting
of the listed buildings (barn and church) and the character of the conservation area will
be considerably enhanced. The development will also fund important and necessary
repairs and will secure the continued use of the listed building. All of these factors are
considerable benefits and represent special circumstances that outweigh the fact that
the development is inappropriate development in the Green Belt, in addition openness
is improved because the volume of buildings to be removed will be in excess of the
volume to be constructed. In other respects the development accords with the
Development Plan policies subject to the recommended conditions.

6.9

Removal of condition 19. On 27 March 2015 the government announced a new
approach to the setting of technical housing standards in England. The ministerial
statement withdrew the Code for Sustainable Homes. In light of this statement the
condition requiring Code Level 4 should no longer be imposed on new
dwellings. There are a number of existing permissions with this condition attached and
the ministerial statement allows for 'legacy' cases to be dealt with. However, if the
condition is not complied with it would not be expedient to take enforcement action or
to refuse an application to relax the condition. As an application has been made in this
case planning permission should be granted.

6.10

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The council’s CIL charging schedule has
been adopted and will apply to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning
charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support
the development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint
created as a result of the development.
Applications under S73 are not CIL liable.

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
I recommend that planning permission is granted for a variation of conditions 3, 4, 5, 6,
7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 of P10W0093 to allow construction of the site access
before agreement of pre commencement conditions because the requirements of the
conditions will still continue to apply to the development. There is no disadvantage in
allowing development to commence for a scheme that the council continues to support.
This element of the proposal accords with the Development Plan Policies.
I recommend that planning permission is also granted for the removal of condition 19
(code 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes) because the Code for Sustainable Homes
has been withdrawn The proposal accords with the Development Plan Policies.

7.2

I also recommend that Listed building consent is granted for the variation of conditions
4, 5 and 6 of P10W0094/LB to allow construction of the site access before agreement
of pre commencement conditions because the requirements of the conditions will still
continue to apply to the works. There is no disadvantage in allowing works to
commence for a scheme that the council continues to support. The proposal accords
with the Development Plan Policies.

Page 88

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 February 2017

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:
1 : No change to original condition – commencement.
2 : No change to original condition – approved plans.
3 : Demolish specified buildings.
4 : Sample materials required (all).
5 : Estate accesses, driveways and turning areas.
6 : Construction traffic management.
7 : Roads and footpaths prior to occupation.
8 : Contamination - (investigation).
9 : Foul Drainage.
10 : No change to original condition - Surface and foul water drainage works.
11 : No change to original condition - Archaeological watching brief.
12 : No change to original condition - Implementation of programme of
archaeological work.
13 : External ducts and flues (details required).
14 : Joinery details.
15 : Wildlife protection.
16 : Landscaping (access/hard standings/fencing/walls).
17 : No change to original condition - Vision splay protection .
18 : No change to original condition - No surface water drainage to highway.
19 : Condition removed - Code Level 4.
20 : No change to original condition - Withdrawal of permitted development rights
(Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc.
21 : No change to original condition - Withdrawal of permitted development rights
(Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc.

8.2

To grant listed building consent subject to the following conditions:
1 : No change to original condition – commencement.
2 : No change to original condition – approved plans.
3 : No change to original condition – demolish specified buildings.
4 : Sample materials.
5 : Detailed specification of external ducts, flue pipes, external venting.
6 : Detailed specification of windows and external doors.
7 : No change to original condition - Detailed specification of works to listed
building.
8 : No change to original condition - Rainwater goods to be painted black.
9 : No change to original condition - Retain stone steps to building G.
Author:
Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Agenda Item 11

The
Site

Page 91

î
í

ê
ïð

è

ïî
ÝÔ×ÛÒÌ

ÐÎÑÖÛÝÌ

Ì×ÌÔÛ

Page 92

ÍÝßÔÛ

ÜßÌÛ

ÜÎßÉÒ

ÖÑÞ Òd

ÜÎßÉ×ÒÙ Òd
¿®½¸·¬»½¬-à¿½¿²¬¸«-½´» ©-ò½±ò«µ
©©©ò¿½¿²¬¸«-½´» ©-ò½±ò«µ

Appendix 2

Appendix 2
Proposed layout

Page 93

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
GRID REFERENCE
OFFICER

APPENDIX 3

P10/W0093
FULL
12.3.2010
CUDDESDON
Mrs Elizabeth Gillespie
Magdalen College
Dove House Farm Cuddesdon, OX44 9HG
Conversion of traditional buildings into office
accommodation and three residential conversions,
and five new build residential units(as amended by
revised Design & Access Statement received 23
April 2010 and drawings and information
accompanying letter from Agent dated 3 January
2013, as amended by plans accompanying letter
from agent dated 4 March 2013 and as clarified by
additional transport report from ace dated June
2013).
None
460179/203087
Ms S Crawford

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
Dovehouse Farm lies on the edge of the village of Cuddesdon on a hillside. It is a
farmyard with some modern and some old buildings. One of the barns is a grade II
listed building and the site is adjacent to All Saints Church; also listed as are a
number of headstones within the grave yard. The Green Belt washes over the whole
of Cuddesdon.

1.2

A legal agreement has been signed in relation to this application to secure affordable
housing and contributions to the county council for infrastructure improvements. The
legal agreement also includes enabling development to secure the stabilisation and
repair of the listed tithe barn.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The application seeks full planning permission to convert the listed barn on this site into
office accommodation, to convert three curtilage listed barns for residential use (all 3 to
4 beds (study option available), and to create five new build residential units (3 would
be affordable units) 2 one bed flats (plots 7 and 8) 1 no two bed house (plot 6) and 2 no
three bed houses (plots 4 and 5)
Part of the development will enable important repairs to the listed barn which is
currently on the buildings at risk register.
All the modern buildings would be removed from the farmyard
Drawing no 209296/106_P6 submitted on in June 2013 (ace report referred to in
description) includes works/improvements to the highway outside the site to provide for
a new pavement to link the site to the rest of the village.
This proposal has evolved over a period of time with two previous applications having
been withdrawn.

2.2

A corresponding application for listed building consent has been submitted.

3.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS

1

Page 94

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

3.1

APPENDIX 3

Cuddesdon Parish Council - Approve
Thames Valley Police- No objection, scheme should attempt to follow secure by
design principles.
Thames Water Development Cntrl - Thames Water has identified an inability of the
existing waste water infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this application.
Improvements to the existing system should be secured by condition.
Soc. for Protection Anc. Build (SPAB)- Having considered the new documentation
available online it appears that most of our concerns have been addressed though
there still seems to be a lack of detail in the plans and specifications. No objection
provided conservation officer is satisfied with the details and specs.
OCC Developer Funding Officer – Contributions are required and should be secured
by legal agreement.
OCC (Archaeology) - No strong views
OCC Countryside Service - No strong views
OCC (Highways) – No objection to amended scheme subject to conditions.
Countryside Officer - No objection subject to a condition to update the survey

and informative
Conservation Officer - The latest amendments respond in part to all of the points I
raised in my January 2013 comments. I therefore consider that the scheme is now
acceptable from the listed buildings and conservation area point of view and
recommend the grant of permission subject to conditions
Waste Management Officer - No strong views
Monson. - No objection subject to conditions
Health & Housing - Env. Protection Team – No objection subject to condition for
contamination.
Housing - No strong views
Building Control Serv.Manager - No strong views
Neighbour Approve (2) These new houses will provide much needed smaller dwellings
in the village.
Neighbour Object (6) Local residents have expressed concern in relation to incursion
into the Green Belt, about the high density, the provision of new pavement in terms of
land ownership and impact on an important wall and tree roots, visual impact on the
rural setting of the village, safety and lighting issues; there are also concerns about
visibility at the access points. These concerns are considered in full in the report.
Neighbour No Strong Views (8)

4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P05/W1233/LB - Other Outcome (24/03/2010)
Alterations necessary for the conversion of traditional buildings.
P05/W1228 - Other Outcome (24/03/2010)
Conversion of traditional barns to office accommodation, three residential units and
three new build residential units.
P05/W1141/LB - Approved (10/01/2006)
Remove damaged stained glass from Chapel. Repair, re-lead and replace missing
elements. Replace stained glass.
P04/W1184 - Other Outcome (14/12/2004)
Conversion of traditional barns to office accommodation and three residential units, and
three new residential units.
P04/W1183/LB - Other Outcome (13/12/2004)
2

Page 95

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPENDIX 3

Alterations necessary for the conversion of traditional barns to office accommodation
and three residential units, and three new residential units.
5.0

5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies
CSEN2 - Green Belt protection
CSEN3 - Historic environment
CSH3 - Affordable housing
CSQ2 - Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3 - Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy

5.2

South oxfordshire Local Plan saved policies
C4 - Landscape setting of settlements
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
C9 - Loss of landscape features
CON2 - Extensions to listed buildings
CON3 - Alteration to listed building
CON5 - Setting of listed building
CON7 - Proposals in a conservation area
D1 - Principles of good design
D10 - Waste Management
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7 - Access for all
E5 – proposals for business use
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
EP7 - Impact on ground water resources
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G4 - Protection of Countryside
GB4 - Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4 - Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3

National Planning Policy Framework
NPPF Planning Practice Guidance
South Oxfordshire Design Guide

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues in this case are;
i.
Whether the principle of development is acceptable
ii.
Special circumstances
iii.
H4 Criteria
iv.
Provision of gardens
v.
Impact on listed buildings and the conservation area
vi.
Provision of affordable housing
vii.
Mix of units
viii.
Sustainable design issues
3

Page 96

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

ix.
x.

APPENDIX 3

Ecology
Infrastructure

v. is the only issue relevant to the consideration of the listed building application

6.2

Principle. The application has taken several years to determine and the policy
position in relation to development in Cuddesdon has changed somewhat; the current
policy position is as follows. The site lies on the edge of the built up limits of
Cuddesdon in the Oxford Green Belt. Cuddesdon is one of the district’s smaller
villages where infill and some backland development will be permitted under the
provisions of policies CSR1 and H4. Policy CSR1 also allows for the redevelopment
of larger sites on a case by case basis. Green Belt policy is also relevant.
The conversion of a barn to office use would be considered under the terms of policy
E5 (E8 does not apply as this site is within a settlement where infill is allowed ; i.e.
not a rural building)
Green Belt. The NPPF attaches great importance to Green belts. The fundamental
aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently
open – the most important attribute of Green Belts is their openness.
Green Belt serves five purposes:
 to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
 to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
 to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
 to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
 to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.
It is important to note that whilst the Green Belt contains areas of attractive
landscape, the quality of the landscape is not relevant to the inclusion of land in the
Green Belt or its continued protection. It is the openness of land that is important.
To protect openness there is a general presumption against inappropriate
development. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt.
New buildings in the Green Belt are not appropriate unless for the following
purposes.
 buildings for agriculture and forestry;
 provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation and for
cemeteries, as long as it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does
not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;
 the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;
 the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use
and not materially larger than the one it replaces;
 limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community
needs under policies set out in the Local Plan; or
 limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously
developed sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use
(excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on
the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it
than the existing development.

4

Page 97

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPENDIX 3

At paragraph 90 the NPPF also allows for other forms of development that are not
deemed inappropriate; this includes
 the re-use of existing buildings provided that they are of permanent and
substantial construction provided that the development will preserve
openness and does not conflict with the purposes of including land in the
Green Belt
The conversion of the buildings to be retained is acceptable in principle in my view
because the conversion complies with the thrust of policies E5 for employment and
CSR1 (the details of how they comply are considered later).
The site area for the new houses is 0.2 hectares. It is not an infill site because it is on
the edge of the village; It would not fall within the definition of previously developed
land as the definition excludes agricultural land and buildings. In the circumstances
the proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt contrary to CSEN2 and
GB4 of SOLP. Inappropriate development in the Green Belt is by definition harmful
and special circumstances have to be demonstrated before planning permission can
be granted. In this case special circumstances have been put forward to
demonstrate that the harm by reason of inappropriateness is outweighed by other
considerations

6.3

Special circumstances. The agent has put forward the following special
circumstances

The overall built form on the site will be considerably reduced and the setting of the
listed buildings (barn and church) and the character of the conservation area will be
considerably enhanced. The development will also fund important and necessary
repairs and will secure the continued use of the listed building. All of these factors are
considerable benefits and in my view outweigh the fact that the development may be
inappropriate, in addition openness is actually improved because more volume is to
be removed than will be constructed.

5

Page 98

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPENDIX 3

Local residents have expressed concern in relation to incursion into the Green Belt
but as the built form decreases this is not the case.

6.4

Whilst the site is not a CSR1 site, the scheme has been assessed in terms of Policy
H4 to ensure that the details are acceptable.
i. That an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is
not lost;
In my view the site is not an important open space of public value although it is within
the conservation area. Overall, the site is no longer required for agriculture; some of
the buildings are in a poor state of repair and there are opportunities to enhance the
character of the conservation area and setting of listed buildings.
With regard to ecological value, the site may provide habitats for bats; However,
there is no objection to the redevelopment subject to conditions to provide additional
bat surveys prior to the commencement of development.

6.5

ii. Design, height and bulk in keeping with the surroundings;
The character of the area is varied in terms of the layout, size and design of
properties. The office and residential conversions of the barns is acceptable. The
design of the new dwellings reflects design guide advice and result in traditional
cottage style dwellings and is acceptable. The layout and design proposed would not
be at odds with the varied character of the area.

6.6

iii. That the character of the area is not adversely affected;
The overall built form on the site will be considerably reduced with the reduction of
utilitarian farm buildings and the setting of the listed buildings (barn and church) and
the character of the conservation area will be considerably enhanced.
Local residents have expressed concern about the high density. Whilst 8 new
dwellings in a small village like Cuddesdon represents an increase in population the
density of development is not particularly high equating to approx 20dph.

6.7
6.7i

iv. Amenity, environmental or highway objections;
Highway and parking issues. Initial highway concerns have now been overcome with
the submission of amended details. The proposal includes works/improvements to
the highway outside the site to provide for a new pavement to link the site to the rest
of the village. Neighbours are concerned about the provision of new pavement in
terms of land ownership and impact on an important wall and tree roots, visual impact
on the rural setting of the village, safety and lighting issues; there are also concerns
about visibility at the access points. The Highway Engineer has looked at these
issues carefully and is happy that his original concerns have been overcome. A
condition to ensure that the pavement link is provided is included in the
recommendation.

6.7i

The scheme provides for parking for the offices and residential elements that meet
the OCC standards. The scheme is acceptable in this respect in my view.

6.7ii

Neighbour impact. The main neighbours affected by the development is The Wall
House, which will be adjacent to one of the barn conversions (house 1) which is
largely single storey other than a rear wing which sides on to the graveyard. Given
the orientation of buildings the residential conversion will have very little impact on
the residential amenity of the Wall House. The office conversion will also have little
impact because the building will effectively screen the access and parking area which
are in a courtyard area away from the Wall House.
The back to back relationship between the new dwellings and the barns to be

6

Page 99

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPENDIX 3

converted to residential is just below 25 metres. I do not however, consider that there
will be unneighbourly overlooking because the barns (house 2 and 3) are single
storey only with only 2 high level rooflights to light ground floor rooms. In addition
there is a drop in levels such that ground floor from the dwellings will be screened by
fencing and first floor windows would look on to the barn roof. The privacy of the barn
gardens would be secured by the higher fencing to the rear of the houses.

6.7iii

V) Backland development issues. The new dwellings would create backland
development The traffic associated with the proposed dwellings where they would be
travelling at low speeds is unlikely to create unneighbourly levels of noise and
disturbance and would be considerably less than the agricultural traffic.

6.8

Provision of gardens. Minimum standards for new residential development are
recommended in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and in Policy D3 of the Local
Plan. A minimum of 50 square metres of garden space is required for 2 bed
properties and 100 square metres for three, four bed dwellings or above is required.
Communal gardens for 1 bed units can be provided at 35 square metres per unit. All
the gardens comply with the standards.

6.9

Impact on listed building and conservation area. The farmyard is centred around
the substantial grade II listed barn and the complex is located within the historic core
of the village of Cuddesdon, immediately adjacent to the grade I parish church. There
are a number of other historic buildings that are of local interest on site including
former stables and outbuildings, and a considerable number of twentieth century
agricultural buildings that are not of architectural or historic interest. The complex is
redundant for agricultural purposes and new uses are proposed for the retained
buildings.
There are elements of this proposal that are to be welcomed, in particular the
repair of the grade II listed barn and the removal of the modern agricultural
buildings which has some benefit in revealing the significance of the listed
buildings.
The listed building would not really convert to dwellings but is in a poor state of
repair. There are also some other non listed barns which convert reasonably easily.
However, in discussion over the years, we have sought that the proposed new build
should fund the conversion of the listed building to B1 use as this is the most
appropriate use of the listed building. It is almost an enabling argument. However,
this then generates a requirement fro affordable housing.
The latest amendments respond in part to all of the points raised by the conservation
officer and the scheme is now acceptable from the listed buildings and conservation
area point of view subject to conditions relating to:
Conditions for historic buildings:
Full Repairs Schedules are required for each of the historic buildings which are to be
retained.
Samples and specifications for all new materials, mortars and pointing methods.
Full external and internal joinery details.
Cast iron or cast aluminium rainwater goods.
Details of all new external flues and vents.
All drainage to be run internally.
Details of all new roofights.
A Schedule of Internal Alterations and large scale sections will also need to be
provided for each converted building to show:
o Floors
o Walls treatments (including insulation)

7

Page 100

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPENDIX 3

o Roof treatments (including insulation)
Building D mangers and hay rack details.
Building G please provide a section showing the new stairs and lift.
Retention of the external stone steps to Building G will be retained, as they are still
not shown on the revised drawing 12/39/15a.
General conditions:
Full landscaping details, including surfaces, fences, walls and planting, will need to
be provided.
External lighting

6.10

Affordable housing. Policy CSH3 of the core strategy seeks to achieve 40% of
affordable housing on sites where there is a net gain of 3 houses. There is a net gain
of 8 dwellings on the site and this would equate to 3.2 affordable units. The
development proposes 3 affordable units but given the enabling issues in relation to
the barn this is considered acceptable and the requirement for the 0.2 excess is not
required in this case. A S106 agreement has already been signed in relation to the
affordable elements.

6.11

Mix of units. There would be a net gain of 8 dwellings and a mix of units is required
for the new build element of 5 by Policy CSH4 of the Adopted Core Strategy. On all
sites that are capable of accommodating two or more dwellings, 45% of the
development should be two bedroom units unless this provision for small dwellings
would adversely affect the character of the area. In this case three of the units are
small with 2 no 1 bed flats and 1no two bed dwelling the other new build units are 3
bedroom houses and the conversions are all 3 to 4 beds (study option available).
This mix accords with the policy.

6.12

Sustainable design issues. Policy CSQ2 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that
all new development demonstrates high standards in the conservation and efficient
use of energy, water and materials. The houses are to be built to achieve a Code for
Sustainable Homes Level 4 standard and a condition has been applied to ensure
code 4 is achieved.

6.13

Ecology. The farmyard was subject to ecological surveys in 2005 which focussed
particularly on the potential for the buildings to provide conditions suitable for roosting
bats. The findings of these surveys revealed that there were no active roosts but that
there was bat activity recorded within the farmyard including feeding activity within
buildings. In 2009 the mitigation proposals for the site were updated and specific
mitigation measures put forward.
Over 8 years have elapsed since the surveys were conducted and new surveys will
need to be conducted before any re-development can take place. Given the scale of
the proposed development and the lack of any previous evidence of roosting activity
it is likely that any changes to the status of the local bat population revealed by
updated surveys can be mitigated within the proposed scheme. No objection

subject to a condition to update the survey.
6.15

Infrastructure requirements. The County Council have assessed this scheme in
turns of impact on local infrastructure, they have calculated that 18 additional
residents will transpire as a result of the development as follows
2 additional primary school-age children
1 additional secondary school-age child

8

Page 101

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPENDIX 3

1.575 additional residents aged 65+
the assessment of contributions has been worked out on this basis.

.A S106 agreement has already been signed in relation to the the infrastructure
contributions.

6.14

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF the Council takes a positive
and proactive approach to development proposals. The Planning Service worked with
the applicant/agent in a positive and proactive manner by updating the
applicant/agent of issues that arose during the application process, suggesting a
solution to objections and providing an opportunity to submit amended plans. It is
acknowledged that the application has taken longer than average to determine given
the enabling, historic, transport and neighbour impact issues and the drafting of a
legal agreement to secure infrastructure contributions and affordable housing.

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
Planning permission is granted because the overall built form on the site will be
considerably reduced and the setting of the listed buildings (barn and church) and the
character of the conservation area will be considerably enhanced. The development will
also fund important and necessary repairs and will secure the continued use of the
listed building. All of these factors are considerable benefits and represent special
circumstances that outweigh the fact that the development is inappropriate
development in the Green Belt, in addition openness is improved because the volume
of buildings to be removed will be in excess of the volume to be constructed. In other
respects the development accords with the Development Plan policies subject to the
recommended conditions.

8.0

RECOMMENDATION
Planning Permission
1 : Commencement 3 yrs - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans *
3 : Demolish specified buildings
4 : Sample materials required (all)

9

Page 102

South Oxfordshire District Council – Delegated Report

APPENDIX 3

5 : Estate accesses, driveways & turning areas
6 : Construction Traffic Management
7 : Roads and footpaths prior to occupation
8 : Contamination - (investigation)
9 : UNIQUE - Foul Drainage
10 : Surface and foul water drainage works (details required)
11 : Archaeological Watching Brief
12 : Implementation of Programme or Archaeological Work
13 : Landscaping
14 : External ducts and flues (details required)
15 : Joinery Details
16 : UNIQUE - Wildlife Protection
17 : Vision splay protection *
18 : No Surface Water Drainage to Highway
19 : Code Level 4
20 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc
21 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc

10

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

